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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERGREEARAF

Chairman’s Statement

EREHME

To Our Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the
“Directors”), | am pleased to present the annual report of Pan
Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (“Pan Asia” or the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

In 2023, the Chinese economy showed signs of recovery
following the easing of the COVID-19 pandemic, despite
challenges such as pressure on foreign trade and exports
and a downturn in the real estate sector. The government
took proactive measures to stimulate economic activity by
promoting consumption and encouraging investment, thereby
creating numerous opportunities for various industries, including
environmental protection (“EP”) solutions and services. In
addition, the Chinese government maintained its commitment
to building a Beautiful China and propelling the country’s
development into a modern powerhouse, with a focus on
transforming it into a green, low-carbon, and circular economy.
Compliance with environmental policies became increasingly
important for companies operating in the country. During the
year, the Group stepped up its efforts to expand its business
operations, securing more projects and achieving a turnaround
with a net profit of RMB1.5 million.

The Group also demonstrated its keen insight into the immense
potential of artificial intelligence (Al) and made a strategic
decision to enter this rapidly growing market. With a vision to
diversify its business, the Group actively pursued opportunities
to leverage Al technology, driving innovation and opening
up new avenues of growth. The Group made a significant
achievement last year by successfully establishing a strategic
cooperation agreement with Chengdu Qingshu Technology
Co., Ltd, a high-tech enterprise in the PRC specializing in the
research and application of big data and intelligent computing,
with a computing cloud platform that provides comprehensive
infrastructure and application programming interface (API)
services. This collaborative venture not only solidified the
Company’s position in the Al market but also provided
invaluable access to cutting-edge Al solutions and expertise.
By leveraging this strategic partnership, the Group is well
positioned to capitalize on the transformative power of Al to
unlock new opportunities and create more value for potential
customers.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year under review, the Group generated total
revenue of RMB220.3 million, a surge of 41.6% compared with
RMB155.6 million recorded in 2022, which was attributable
to the Group’s business development efforts as well as the
continuous growth in demand for eco-friendly and low-carbon
solutions. Gross profit increased significantly by 56.7% to
RMB31.4 million (2022: RMB20.0 million) with the gross profit
margin of 12.9% (2022: 12.9%) on the back of continuous
portfolio management.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
RMB1.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023, turning
around from a net loss of RMB0.9 million for the year ended
31 December 2022. Basic and diluted earnings per share was
RMBO0.17 cents (2022: basic loss per share of RMB0.11 cents).

PROSPECTS

Given the government’s policy directives to accelerate the
development of an eco-friendly and low-carbon circular
economy, the Group remains positive about the prospects of
the EP industry in the near future. As highlighted in the State
Council’s recent Opinions on Comprehensively Promoting
the Construction of a Beautiful China, the country aims to
continuously reduce major pollutant emissions and improve
ecological environmental quality by 2027, and sets a target
for carbon emissions to peak and steadily decline by 2035,
resulting in a fundamental improvement of the country’s
ecological environment.

To capitalize on these opportunities, the Group intends to
leverage its expertise and experience in these areas to enhance
its services and improve efficiency. By expanding its business
portfolio and capitalizing on its strong network of industry
partners, the Group aims to diversify its income streams and
achieve sustained growth in line with the evolution of the EP
market. These strategic endeavors will enable the Group to
contribute to the realization of the government’s environmental
goals while driving its own success in the EP sector.
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERGREEARAF

Chairman’s Statement

EREHME

Recognizing the pivotal role of Al in propelling China’s economy
towards high-quality development, the Group is dedicated to
diversifying its business through the provision of accelerated
computing services. This strategic move is in line with the
country’s vision to advance the planning and building of a Digital
China, and to promote new levels of productivity driven by Al.

QOur collaboration with Chengdu Qingshu allows both parties
to combine expertise, resources, and market insights to
maximize synergies and capitalize on the immense opportunities
presented by the Al industry. By working closely together,
we are poised to realize the potential of Al. With a steadfast
commitment to collaboration and a profound understanding
of market dynamics, the Group is primed to make significant
strides within the Al industry and capitalize on its promising
future.

Embracing the future, the Group has started to leverage the
most advanced technologies and applications to boost its
business relevance and viability. By combining the strong
foundation of its current EP business operations with a proactive
approach to identifying and pursuing more eco-friendly and
operation-efficient business opportunities in the burgeoning Al
market of the rapidly expanding digitalized world, the Group
aims to become a highly valuable enterprise that maximizes
returns for shareholders and makes a positive contribution to
society.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board and management, | would like to express
my heartfelt gratitude to our staff for their total dedication over
the past year. | also wish to extend my appreciation to the
Group’s shareholders for their continued support, which has
enabled the Group to steadily develop its ongoing EP business
and seek strategic investment opportunities. The Group, as
always, will continue to make unremitting efforts to achieve
stable growth while creating long-term value for shareholders.

Guo Jiannan
Chairman
Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2023, China’s economy gradually recovered as the
government began to ease COVID-19 containment measures.
Amid relatively weak overall market demand and a slower-
than-expected recovery, the Chinese government adopted a
comprehensive strategy aimed at expanding domestic demand
in an effort to promote steady economic growth. Recognizing
the importance of consumer spending as a driver of economic
recovery, the government promoted economic activity by
bolstering domestic demand, building consumer confidence,
and encouraging increased spending. In pursuit of this goal, the
government implemented a range of monetary policies, including
interest rate reductions, designed to incentivize corporate
investment and propel further economic development.

The year 2023 was a significant milestone year for China as it
embraced the principles outlined in the 20th National Congress
of the Communist Party of China and implemented the “14th
Five-Year Plan”. During the year, the government demonstrated
its commitment to energy conservation, waste reduction,
and the establishment of an ecological civilization. In order to
achieve goals such as peaking carbon emissions, achieving
carbon neutrality, and building a beautiful China, the Chinese
government implemented macro-planning and various measures
to control water resources, and air and noise pollution. These
initiatives not only created a favorable condition for businesses
operating in the environmental protection (“EP”) sector but also
aligned with global sustainability goals, addressing pressing
environmental concerns while stimulating economic growth and
fostering innovation in eco-friendly technologies. Furthermore,
the resumption of many environmental projects that were
suspended during the pandemic further contributed to the
growth of the EP sector during the year.
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERGREEARAF

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERENWED

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the development,
manufacture and sale of EP products and equipment, and the
provision of EP construction engineering solutions and services.
In 2023, the sale of EP products and equipment contributed
revenue of RMB220.3 million (2022: RMB155.6 million),
accounting for 100% (2022: 100%) of the Group’s total revenue.
The Group completed seven water treatment projects and four
flue gas treatment projects.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 3 projects on
hand with an aggregate value of work to be completed of
approximately RMB199.1 million (tax inclusive). The Group
expects the above projects on hand to be completed by the end
of 2024.

In order to strengthen its business diversification and enrich
its portfolio by providing accelerated computing services to
enterprises adopting modern applications, the Company entered
into a strategic cooperation agreement with Chengdu Qingshu
Technology Co., Ltd (“Chengdu Qingshu”), a Chinese enterprise
focusing on research and application in the fields of big data
and intelligent computing, in September 2023. Leveraging the
respective technological expertise of both parties, this strategic
cooperation is expected to enable the Group to further explore
market opportunities in the accelerated computing industry.

In addition, there was a change in the management of the
Group during the year as Mr. Jiang Xin tendered his resignation
as an Executive Director and Chairman of the Board. Mr. Guo
Jiannan, an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, was appointed as the Chairman and Ms. Pan Chang
was appointed as an Executive Director.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total assets amounted to
RMB1,292.7 million, an increase of RMB40.1 million compared
with RMB1,252.6 million in 2022. The Group’s total liabilities
as at 31 December 2023 amounted to RMB155.2 million, an
increase of RMB23.2 million compared with RMB132.0 million
in 2022. The Group’s total equity as at 31 December 2023 was
RMB1,137.5 million (2022: RMB1,120.6 million), and the gearing
ratio, calculated on the basis of total borrowings (including
corporate bonds and amount due to a related party) to equity
(including all capital and reserves), was 8.3% (2022: 8.9%). The
Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB1,235.8
million as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB1,202.7 million).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN FOREIGN
EXCHANGE RATES

The majority of the Group’s business transactions and liabilities
are denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. The
Group has adopted a conservative financial policy, and the
majority of its bank deposits are in Renminbi and Hong Kong
dollars. As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
foreign currency bank liabilities, foreign exchange contracts,
interest or currency swaps or other financial derivatives for
hedging purposes. Nevertheless, the management continues to
monitor the Group’s foreign exchange exposure and will take
prudent measures as and when appropriate. As at 31 December
2023, the Group did not hold any derivatives for hedging against
interest rate or foreign exchange risks.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any capital
expenditure commitments for the acquisition of property, plant
and equipment (2022: Nil). The Group has issued product
warranties to its customers for certain of its EP products and
equipment sold for a warranty period ranging from six months
to two years after installation. At the same time, the Group has
also received product warranties for such EP products and
equipment supplied from its suppliers. The Directors believe
that the amount of crystalized warranty liabilities will not be
significant at the end of the reporting period.
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERGREEARAF

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERENWED

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

There was no pledge of assets by the Group as at 31 December
2023.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY
STAKEHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 89
employees. Employee salaries are maintained at competitive
levels and are reviewed annually, with close reference to the
relevant labor markets and economic situations. Directors’
remuneration is determined based on a variety of factors such as
market conditions and the specific responsibilities shouldered
by the individual directors. In addition to providing the basic
remuneration and statutory benefits as required by the law,
the Group provides discretionary bonuses based on its results
and the performance of the individual employee. The Group
also has an employee share option scheme in operation. Total
remuneration costs, including Directors’ remuneration, for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB12.9 million (2022:
RMB13.0 million). During the year under review, the Group
organized professional and vocational training for its employees.
The Directors believe that the Group has an admirable
relationship with its employees.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased
to present the Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE AND
STRATEGY

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are
conducted in accordance with high ethical standards. This
reflects its belief that, in the achievement of its long-term
objectives, it is imperative to act with probity, transparency
and accountability. By so acting, the Company believes that
Shareholder wealth will be maximised in the long term and
that its employees, those with whom it does business and the
communities in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board
instructs management of the Group to conduct its affairs with
a view to ensuring that its objectives are met. The Board is
committed to maintaining and developing robust corporate
governance practices that are intended to ensure:

satisfactory and sustainable returns to Shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded;

- that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately;

- the delivery of high-quality products and services to the
satisfaction of customers; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERME

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board was committed to achieving high corporate
governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Group to
safeguard the interests of shareholders (the “Shareholders”),
enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and
policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”).

The Company has in place a corporate governance framework
and has established a set of policies and procedures based on
the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.
Such policies and procedures provide the infrastructure for
enhancing the Board’s ability to implement governance and
exercise proper oversight on business conduct and affairs of the
Company.

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the year ended 31
December 2023, the Company has complied with all applicable
code provisions of the CG Code, except for CG Code provisions
C.2.1, C.5.1, F.2.2 and D.2.5, which provides that the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual, the Chairman
of the Board should attend the annual general meeting, regular
Board meetings should be held at least four times a year,
and the Group should have an internal audit function, details
of which are set out in the sections headed “Attendance
Records of Directors”, “Board of Directors”, “Board Meetings”
“Communication with Shareholders and Investors” and “Risk
Management and Internal Control” of this Corporate Governance
Report.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities (the “Company’s
Securities Dealing Code”) on terms no less exacting than the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Company’s Securities Dealing Code throughout the year ended
31 December 2023.

The Company’s Securities Dealing Code, no less exacting than
the Model Code, for securities transactions also applies to all
employees who, because of such office or employment, are
likely to possess inside information in relation to the Company or
its securities. No incident of non-compliance of the Company’s
Securities Dealing Code by the employees was noted by the
Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and be collectively
responsibility for promoting the Company’s success by directing
and supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors takes decisions
objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business and regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing
them that are commensurate with their role and the Board
responsibilities. The Board includes a balanced composition
of Executive Director and Non-executive Directors (including
Independent Non-executive Directors) so that there is a strong
independent element on the Board, which can effectively
exercise independent judgement.
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Board Composition

The Board comprises six members including three Executive
Directors and three Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the financial year and up to 17 April 2024 (the “Latest
Practicable Date”), the composition of the Board comprised the
following Directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Guo Jiannan, Chairman and
member of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee (appointed on 16 March 2023 and appointed as
Chairman, member of the Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee on 27 November 2023)

Mr. Zhu Duke Li, Chief Executive Officer
(appointed on 12 April 2024)

Ms. Pan Chang (appointed on 27 November 2023)

Mr. Jiang Xin, Chairman and member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee (resigned on
27 November 2023)

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Fan Ya Jun (resigned on 16 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Xuezheng, Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee and member of the Audit
Committee

Mr. Hu Jianjun, member of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny, Chairman of the Audit Committee
and member of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this
Annual Report. The relationships between the Directors are
disclosed in the respective Director’s biography under the
section “Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual
Report. Save as disclosed above, there is no relationships
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship(s)) between the Board members.
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Mr. Guo Jiannan and Ms. Pan Chang, who have been appointed
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and Mr. Zhu Duke Li,
who has been appointed during the year ending 31 December
2024, had obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules on 16 March 20283, 27 November 2023 and
12 April 2024, and each of Mr. Guo Jiannan, Ms. Pan Chang
and Mr. Zhu Duke Li has confirmed he/she understood his/her
obligations as a director of the Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, companies listed on the
Stock Exchange are expected to comply with, but may choose
to deviate from the requirement that the responsibilities between
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be
segregated and should not be performed by the same individual.
Mr. Guo Jiannan, an Executive Director of the Company, has
been appointed as the Chairman of the Board with effect
from 27 November 2023. Upon appointment of Mr. Guo as
Chairman, he assumes both the roles as the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in deviation from
the aforesaid code provision. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the
same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership
within the Group and enables more effective and efficient overall
strategic planning for the Group. The Board considers that the
balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will
not be impaired and this structure will enable the Company to
make and implement decisions promptly and effectively.

On 12 April 2024, Mr. Guo Jiannan resigned as Chief Executive
Officer and the Company appointed Mr. Zhu Duke Li as Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, upon the change of the Chief
Executive Officer, the Company comply with code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code.

AN e o S
1E é”nﬂﬁ%

DEMEERBEELLT(REE=_Z ==
F+-A=+—HILFEEZE)AKZh
Duke LIt A (REZ=-FE-_MF+ =4
T HALEFEEZE)ERE_=%F
=A+X<H - —2BE-=&F+—A=++H
N _Z_EmMA+ -G FHRAIS
3.00DIEFTH AR E R - SPER LA
Y& 420+ K Zhu Duke LiZ A2 AR
TREEARNAREENEMT -

ERERTHAR

REE ETRAMECIAEEEERTR
B STRNEXEC.2. 116 » R LMz
NEFEHETEAERRRENL THRE -
AERFETRAHNBERETARD KT
FERR— ABITRS - RABMITESS
EEEEE T _=F+—A=-1+tHE
BEZERESEIR  BIXRERZESR
TRE  BEEBRARRERRFAERER
TR AR - B st RHRSGRE -
EEgME AR - AREZERITRA
BNAE  BYRRASEANEZER
—H - EASENBERERIETEEUL
FAMEX -BEFERE - BAHNRHET
SHISSENHIE - MLREREEARF]
IR R BBMAEH RBEITIREK ©

RZE-_WNEFENMA+—H ' FEE AR
ETHABE - A2QFZEEZhu Duke List
ERARRNETHABE - THREBHEERE -
KABFEEEERTR ZFAERXE
C.2.MEMRTE °

15



16

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERGREEARAF

Corporate Governance Report
SEEARE

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board. The
chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny,
who possesses the appropriate professional qualification, and
accounting and financial management expertise as required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-executive Directors in respect
of his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism during the year which sets out the processes and
procedures to ensure a strong independent element on the
Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises independent
judgment to better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board
effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify the areas that
need improvement or further development. The evaluation
process also clarifies what actions of the Company need to
be taken to maintain and improve the Board performance, for
instance, addressing individual training and development needs
of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism,
the Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The
Board Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the
Board which will collectively discuss the results and the action
plan for improvement, if appropriate.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all Directors
has completed the independence evaluation in the form of
a questionnaire individually and supplemented by individual
interviews. The Board Independence Evaluation Report was
presented to the Board and the evaluation results were
satisfactory.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Independence Evaluation Mechanism and the results were
satisfactory.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company is appointed under a letter of appointment which
is terminable by either party with 3 months’ notice in writing
served on the other side.

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or if their number is not three or a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The Company’s Articles
of Association also provides that all Directors appointed to fill a
casual vacancy or as addition Director shall hold office only until
the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting but
shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at such
meeting.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company, and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The Independent Non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.
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The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them and the Board regularly reviews the
contribution required from each Director to perform his
responsibility to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
taken against Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed
on an annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction shall
be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant sites and
meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors
would be arranged and reading material on relevant topics
would be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all Directors have
been provided with relevant reading materials including legal
and regulatory updates for their reference and studying.
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The record of continuous professional development relating
to Director’s duties and regulatory and business development
that have been received by the Directors for the year ended 31
December 2023 are summarized as follows:
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Directors =S SE I B
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Guo Jiannan SR LE

(appointed on 16 March 2023) (R=ZEBE-=F=A+/BEZE)
Ms. Pan Chang BRI

(appointed on 27 November 2023) (R=Z=_=F+—A=t+tHEEZF)
Mr. Jiang Xin BEiE B

(resigned on 27 November 2023) (R=—B-_=F+—HA=-++tB&MT)
Non-executive Director HFHTEE
Mr. Fan Yajun SBERE S B

(resigned on 16 March 2023) (R=ZE=_=F=F+/ HEE)
Independent Non-executive Directors BT ITEE
Mr. Chen Xuezheng PR S & A&B
Mr. Hu Jianjun HEE R A A
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny 2R & A&B
Note: Hat -
Types of Training BFIkE R
A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, A 2IBFIRE - REETRABRE

seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines
and relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are posted on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders
upon request.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three members, including
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen
Xuezheng, Mr. Hu Jianjun and Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny. Mr.
Leung Shu Sun, Sunny is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the financial information and reporting process,
risk management and internal control systems, effectiveness
of the internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment
of external auditor, and arrangements to enable employees of
the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
held two meetings to review the annual financial results and
reports in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 and
the interim financial results and reports for the period ended
30 June 2023 and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and internal audit
function, appointment of external auditor, engagement of non-
audit services and relevant scope of works, amendments of the
terms of reference in light of the amendments to the Corporate
Governance Code and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor twice without
the presence of the Executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of four members
including one Executive Director, namely Mr. Guo Jiannan, and
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen
Xuezheng, Mr. Hu Jianjun and Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny.
Mr. Chen Xuezheng is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
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The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Director and
senior management, the remuneration policy and structure
for all Directors and senior management, and establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his associates
will participate in deciding his own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and
structure of the Company and the remuneration packages of the
Executive Director and senior management and other related
matters.

The remuneration of the senior management (excluding
Executive Director), whose biographical details are included
in section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this
Annual Report, during the year falls within the following bands:
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Number of
Individuals
Remuneration (HK$) i (B o) A8
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 2%1,000,0008 7T 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 2,000,000/ 7T 1

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including Directors
and senior management, is based on skill, knowledge,
responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs. The
remuneration package of Executive Director is also determined
with reference to the Company’s performance and profitability,
the prevailing market conditions and the performance or
contribution of the Executive Director. The remuneration for
the Executive Director comprises basic salary, pensions and
discretionary bonus. Executive Director shall receive options
to be granted under the Company’s share option scheme. The
remuneration policy for Independent Non-executive Directors
is to ensure that Independent Non-executive Directors are
adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated
to the Company’s affairs, including their participation in Board
committees. The remuneration for the Non-Executive Director
and Independent Non-executive Directors mainly comprises
Director’s fee which is determined with reference to their duties
and responsibilities by the Board. Independent Non-executive
Directors shall not receive options to be granted under the
Company’s share option scheme. Individual Directors and
senior management have not been involved in deciding their
own remuneration.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of four members, including
one Executive Director, namely Mr. Guo Jiannan, and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen
Xuezheng, Mr. Hu Jianjun and Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny. Mr.
Chen Xuezheng is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, reviewing
the Board Diversity Policy and the Director Nomination Policy
and assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
relevant criteria as set out in the Director Nomination Policy
that are necessary to complement the corporate strategy and
achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and the independence of
the Independent Non-executive Directors, to consider the
qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for re-election at
the annual general meeting, to review the Board Diversity Policy
and Director Nomination Policy. The Nomination Committee
considered an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of
the Board is maintained.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive
advantage.
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Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee will review regularly the structure, size and
composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board
maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition and the nomination of
Directors, the Nomination Committee is committed to diversity
at all levels and will consider a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and
industry experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s
business growth and is also committed to ensuring that
recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the Board
downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range
of candidates are considered.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to
implement the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives
from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain
the progress made towards achieving those objectives.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A) at least one of members of the Board shall be female;

(B) at least 40% of the members of the Board shall be
non-executive Directors or independent non-executive
Directors;

(C) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(D) at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;

(E) at least 15% of the members of the Board shall have
more than 3 years of experience in the industry he/she is
specialised in;

(F) at least one of the members of the Board shall have China-
related work experience.

The Nomination Committee and the Board are of the view
that the current composition of the Board has achieved the
objectives set in the Board Diversity Policy.
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Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of
the Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio in
the workforce of the Group, including the Board and senior
management as at the date of this Annual Report:

Board g
Senior Management SREEE
Other employees Hifgg
Overall workforce 28EET

The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least
20% (1) of female Directors and 25.6% (21) of female employees
of the Group and considers that the above current gender
diversity is satisfactory.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant
data can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority
for selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which
sets out the selection criteria and nomination process and
the Board succession planning considerations in relation to
nomination and appointment of Directors of the Company and
aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and
the continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board
level.
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The nomination process set out in the Director Nomination
Policy is as follows:

Appointment of New Director

(i)

(if)

(i)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new Director
and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria
as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder
for election as a Director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to Shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of Director at the general
meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

(i)

(il

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the Company
of the retiring Director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
also review and determine whether the retiring Director
continues to meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of Director at the general meeting.
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Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as Director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
Shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the criteria for assessing
the suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a
proposed candidate, including but not limited to the following:

° Character and integrity;

° Quialifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

° Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skKills,
knowledge and length of service;

° Requirements of Independent Non-executive Directors on
the Board and independence of the proposed Independent
Non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules; and

° Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest to discharge duties as a member of the Board
and/or Board committee(s) of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no change
in the composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Company’s Securities Dealing Code and
the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS EEHERLRE

The attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, EEERNEE T _=F+_-_A=+—H
the Board Committee meetings and the general meetings of the  I[FFERTNESS S  BE=ZECS
Company held during the year ended 31 December 2023 is set = & ANA &I A S ) & 2 & & 51
out in the table below: T ¢

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERE SHRY
Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Name of Director EEpg ES® ENRZET FWEEE REZEET RRAFAY
Executive Directors HITEE
Guo Jiannan PEB(R=FE==F 4/8 N/A 0/0 0/0 1/1
(appointed on 16 March 2023) =F+/XBEZE) TERA
Pang Chang BEN-Z-=% 2/2 N/A N/A N/A 0/0
(appointed on 27 November +—A-ttHE NEA NEA N
2023) ZfE)
Jiang Xin % 5/7 N/A 11 1/1 0/1
(resigned on 27 November (R=Z==F1+—8 Nk
2029) Zt+tBEfT)
Non-executive Director HHTEE
Fan Yajun BRE 11 N/A N/A N/A N/A
(resigned on 16 March 2023)  (R=Z—=% T T T T
ERRWAEL Y
Independent Non-executive BUHHTEE
Directors
Chen Xuezheng BRER 8/9 2/2 2/2 2/2 0/1
Hu Jianjun HEE 7/9 2/2 2/2 2/2 01
Leung Shu Sun, Sunny R 8/9 2/2 2/2 2/2 11

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held FR - BREPETSLHI TRIAGER
mestings with Independent Non-executive Directors without the EMES T ESENEN THEBTIERNTTE
presence of other Directors during the year. ER{TEE -

An Independent Non-executive Director has attended general — BB IFRTESTEFEARAREKX
meeting of the Company to gain and develop a balanced e DEREEREE2AE AEMNTE-
understanding of the view of the Shareholders.
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BOARD MEETINGS

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a
year involving active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board held nine
meetings with active participation of majority directors, either
in person or through electronic means of communication. The
Company does not announce its quarterly results and hence not
consider the holding of quarterly meetings as necessary.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing
and maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes and
office functions, including project management, sales and
leasing, financial reporting, human resources and information
technology.

An on-going process has been established for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the
Group. The process involves:

(i) Risk Identification: identify risks that may potentially affect
the Group’s businesses and operations;

(i)  Risk Evaluation: consider the impact on the business and
the likelihood of their occurrence; and

(i) Risk Management: perform on-going and periodic
monitoring of the risks and ensure that appropriate internal
control processes are in place.
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All divisions conducted internal control assessment regularly to
identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group
and various aspects including key operational and financial
processes, regulatory compliance and information security. Self-
evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each division.

The management, in co-ordination with division heads, assessed
the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment plans,
and monitor the risk management progress, and reported to
the Audit Committee and the Board on all findings and the
effectiveness of the systems.

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Under Code Provision D.2.5 of the CG Code, the Group should
have an internal audit function. During the year, the Group
conducted a review on the need for setting up an internal audit
department. Given the Group’s simple operating structure and
the potential cost burden, it was decided that the Group would
not set up an internal audit department for the time being and
the Board would be directly responsible for risk management
and internal control systems of the Group.

The Company has engaged external professional firm
for providing the internal audit function and performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems. The internal
audit function examined key issues in relation to the accounting
practices and all material controls and provided its findings and
recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings, conducted
an annual review of the risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls, for the year ended 31 December 2023, and considered
that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual
review also covered the financial reporting and internal audit
function and staff qualifications, experiences and relevant
resources.
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Arrangements are in place to facilitate employees of the
Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other
matters of the Company.

The Company has in place the Whistleblowing Policy for
employees of the Company and those who deal with the
Company to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with
the Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any matters
related to the Company.

The Company has also in place the Anti-Corruption Policy to
safeguard against corruption and bribery within the Company.
The Company has an internal reporting channel that is open and
available for employees of the Company to report any suspected
corruption and bribery. Employees can also make anonymous
reports to the internal audit function, which is responsible for
investigating the reported incidents and taking appropriate
measures. The Company continues to carry out anti-corruption
and anti-bribery activities to cultivate a culture of integrity, and
actively organizes anti-corruption training and inspections to
ensure the effectiveness of anti-corruption and anti-bribery.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company held
anti-corruption training regularly and briefing to all employees.
There were no non-compliance cases in relation to bribery and
corruption.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers,
senior management and relevant employees in handling
confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements with the support of the accounting and
finance team.

The Directors have prepared the financial statements in
accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Appropriate accounting policies have also been
used and applied consistently except the adoption of revised
standards, amendments to standards and interpretation.
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The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this Annual Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid and payable to the external auditor of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for
the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

Service Category BRI AE R
Audit Services EZ R
Non-audit Services IEEZARTE

— Review of accounts for the period
ended 30 June 2023

— Agreed upon procedures on
preliminary results announcement

Total st

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board appoints Mr. Wan San Fai, Vincent as its Company
Secretary in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association and in compliance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. Mr. Wan has complied with the professional
training requirement as set out in Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, the Directors may, whenever it think fit, convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting. Extraordinary General Meetings
shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the voting rights, on a one vote
per share basis, of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Directors or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
Extraordinary General Meeting to be called by the Directors for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Directors
fail to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may convene a physical meeting at only
one location which will be the Principal Meeting Place, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Directors shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

For proposal of a person for election as Director, pursuant
to Article 113 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for
election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless
notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for
election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the
Company’s Head Office at Room 1506, 15/F, Lippo Sun Plaza,
No. 28 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong or
at the Company’s Registration Office at Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong at least ten (10) business days before the date of the
general meeting and the period for lodgement of such notices
shall commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of
the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election
and shall be at least ten (10) business days in length.

Shareholders who wish to put forward other proposals at
general meetings may follow the procedures in “Convening an
Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders” set out above
to convene an extraordinary general meeting for business
specified in the written requisition.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Room 1506, 15/F, Lippo Sun Plaza, No. 28 Canton
Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Fax: (852) 3747-8047

Email: info@paep.com.cn

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice
or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address, apart from other specified office of the Company,
if any, and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an
on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At
the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders and answer
their enquiries.

To safeguard Shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

Mr. Jiang Xin, the previous Chairman was unable to attend the
annual general meeting held on 8 June 2023 due to a business
trip. Mr. Guo Jiannan, the existing Chairman will use his best
endeavours to attend all future shareholders’ meetings of the
Company.
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Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication
Policy. The policy aims at promoting effective communication
with Shareholders and other stakeholders, encouraging
Shareholders to engage actively with the Company and enabling
Shareholders to exercise their rights as Shareholders effectively.
The Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ Communication Policy and the results were
satisfactory.

The Company has established a number of channels for
maintaining an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as
follows:

(@ Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing
Rules refers to any document issued or to be issued by the
Company for the information or action of holders of any
of its securities, including but not limited to the following
documents of the Company: (a) the Directors’ report,
annual accounts together with a copy of the auditor’s
report and, where applicable, its summary financial
report; (b) the interim report and, where applicable, its
summary interim report; (c) a notice of meeting; (d) a listing
document; (e) a circular; and (f) a proxy form.

The Corporate Communication of the Company
will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkex.com.hk) in a timely manner as required by the
Listing Rules.

Corporate Communication will be provided to Shareholders
and non-registered holders of the Company’s securities in
both English and Chinese versions or where permitted, in
a single language, in a timely manner as required by the
Listing Rules.

(b) Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the
Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on price
sensitive information, corporate actions and transactions
etc.) and other documents (e.g. Memorandum and Articles
of Association) on the Stock Exchange’s website in a
timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted
on the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published
on the Company’s website (www.paep.com.cn) under
“Corporate Governance” section.

Other corporate information about the Company’s
business developments, goals and strategies, corporate
governance and risk management will also be available on
the Company’s website.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings
of the Company are primary forum for communication
between the Company and its Shareholders.

The Company shall provide Shareholders with relevant
information on the resolutions(s) proposed at a general
meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The information provided shall be reasonably
necessary to enable Shareholders to make an informed
decision on the proposed resolution(s).

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the
meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to
attend the meetings.

Where appropriate or required, the Chairman of the
Board and other Board members, the chairmen of board
committees or their delegates, and the external auditors
should attend general meetings of the Company to answer
Shareholders’ questions (if any).

The chairman of the independent board committee (if
any) should also be available to answer questions at any
general meeting to approve a connected transaction
or any other transaction that is subject to independent
Shareholders’ approval.
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(e) Shareholders’ Enquiries
Enquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, via its online holding
enquiry service at www.tricoris.com, or send email to
is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com or call its hotline at
(852) 2980 13383, or go in person to its public counter at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to
be put to the Board and the Company.

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company, for attention of Company
Secretary, by email: info@paep.com.cn or mail to Room
1506, 15/F, Lippo Sun Plaza, No. 28 Canton Road, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. Shareholders may call the
Company at (852) 3153 4323 for any assistance.

Note: Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

()  Other Investor Relations Communication Platforms

Investor/analysts briefings, roadshows (both domestic
and international), media interviews, marketing activities
for investors and specialist industry forums etc. will be
launched on a required basis.

Amendments to Constitutional Documents

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. An up to date version of
the Company’s Articles of Association is also available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of
dividends. The Company intends to distribute no less than
30% of its annual net profits as dividends to its shareholders.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out in the
Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared
by the Board during a financial year and any final dividend for
a financial year will be subject to the Shareholders’ approval.
Such details have been disclosed in the annual report of the
Company.

(e) MEEZH
AR EENSH

BRER AL BB R ARG B &R
BREEFRFELERARKA LFR
& 3 AR 75 www. tricoris.com Bk 2% #X &
# % is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com
2 B EE H 2MR(852) 2980 13338k ke
HEURESERE16HRRE S A
1T7TENARERELEBEERRNE

A

]
RArR—MTEEE DAL
EHEH WREAUBBASEHM
info@paep.com.cnsk E 25 £ &8 L8
RPBERE8HENEAGES15
B1506EM AN A BXEEE
WHEFARRWER - REAIKRE
(852) 3153 4323[AIA A Al E KAE (A #
B o

B REEN RS REARAE T
HE -

() BAMRELZHFBEETFE

REE /HFMEHRE  BEER
RBIER) - KRR - REELHA
B LERTEMEBFHIRERET -

ABER ISR

REBFEAR  NARMEMSIZARLE
EMEE - ARREBEIZARIHRITR
ARIRA R AN B AL R B R P uh &R -

IR EBE

ARBERIRM R ERABEEE - AR
AR R D KN DR EFEAMEB0%
ERIE - EFAIREFARAE RAKER
FATGAROR e B B R R P B 1 M B =B
BEERARER/RERKE - BEMFET
B E 2 REIR B BRI E - B
HBERARBFHRPHE -



Annual Report 2023
“EI=FEER

Directors and Senior Management

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Jiannan, aged 48, was appointed as an Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer in March 2023 and was
appointed as Chairman of the Board on 27 November 2023.
He has resigned as the Chief Executive Officer on 16 April
2024. He is currently a director of Guangzhou DSQ Capital
Co. Ltd. and a researcher of Peking University. He obtained a
bachelor’s degree of economic in business administration and
master’s degree of economic in statistics from Peking University
in July 1998 and July 2002 respectively. He further obtained
a doctorate degree of philosophy in economics from The
University of Warwick in April 2008. He passed the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange Independent Director Qualification Training for
Listed Company in December 2016.

Mr. Guo is an expert in industrial economics and industrial
finance. He was a researcher at The University of Warwick from
September 2002 to July 2006, a lecturer at The London School
of Economics and Political Science from September 2006 to
April 2008, an associate professor and supervisor of doctoral
students at Southwestern University of Finance and Economics
from April 2008 to August 2015.

Mr. Guo served as a consultant of Sichuan Provincial
Government and Industrial Fund for a long time, and has a
deep understanding of the industrial development and strategic
layout, as well as strong capital operation and resource
integration capabilities. He served as an expert member of
investment review committee of Jintai Property & Casualty
Insurance Co., Ltd, an expert member of professional committee
of Financing Guarantee Association of Sichuan and a director of
Chengdu CST XingChuang Equity Investment Management Co.,
Ltd. since May 2009, May 2010 and May 2016 respectively.

In addition, Mr. Guo was an independent director of Huaren
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Stock code: 300110) (the shares
of which are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange) from
September 2017 to August 2019. He is a professional member
of investment review committee of Chengdu B-ray Media Co.,
Ltd. (stock code: 600880) (the shares of which are listed on
Shanghai Stock Exchange) and an independent director of Wells
Advanced Materials (Shanghai) Co.,Ltd. (the shares of which are
listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange) since October 2020 and
September 2021 respectively.
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Mr. Zhu Duke Li, aged 61, was appointed as Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer on 12 April 2024. He
entered the blockchain industry in 2017 and has built a number
of Bitcoin, Filecoin and Al supercomputing centres in Oregon,
USA. He is co-founder and chief executive officer of West
Crypto International Corporation and Plentiful Data LLC. Prior
to that, Mr. Zhu served as chairman of Jagex, the largest
online game company in the United Kingdom, and worked for
MacArthur Capital Holding USA LLC and MacArthur Fortune
Holding LLC as partner and chief executive officer. Mr. Zhu
has established a good cooperative relationship with major
international investment banks. The Group believes that under
the leadership of Mr. Zhu, in response to the call of the Hong
Kong Government as a Web 3.0 financial centre, the Group will
enter into a new era, emerging in the distributed storage and
Al computing industries, and generating substantial returns for
shareholders.

Ms. Pan Chang, aged 41, was appointed as Executive
Director on 27 November 2023. She obtained a bachelor’s
degree of business administration from Trent University in May
2014. She further obtained an executive master’s degree of
business administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in July 2022. She obtained Shenzhen Stock Exchange’s
Board Secretary Qualification Certificate, Independent Director
Certificate and Fund Practitioner Qualification Certificate in July
2020, November 2020 and October 2020 respectively.

Ms. Pan is currently a partner of Guangzhou DSQ Capital Co.
Ltd. Ms. Pan has years of experience in equity investment.
She has long been focused on the fields of new materials
and semiconductors, big data artificial intelligence and super
computing power. She has participated in investments in
multiple IPOs, mergers and acquisitions of listed companies,
and has rich investment management capabilities in equity
investment, government guidance funds, S funds and cross-
border investment and other aspects. Ms. Pan served as the
budget and reconciliation manager of the Finance Department
of Fleming College from April 2013 to May 2014. From June
2014 to April 2023, Ms. Pan served successively as the assistant
to the president of Guangdong Yihang Group Co., Ltd. and the
director of the president office of Guangdong Aerocity Holding
Co., Ltd.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny, aged 61, has been appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director since December 2007.
He is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
He has over 20 years’ working experience in, among others,
accounting, treasury management, budgeting and corporate
finance. He graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a professional diploma in Accountancy and obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from the University
of South Australia. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a member of Certified General Accountants’ Association
of Canada. From 2005 to 2007, he served as the financial
controller, qualified accountant and company secretary of
Xiwang Sugar Holdings Company Limited (now known as
Xiwang Property Holdings Company Limited) (Stock Code:
2088), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. From 2001 to date, he has been a director
of a company providing accounting, tax and corporate finance
services. From 1999 to 2001, he held key financial position in
a listed company in Hong Kong. From 1998 to 1999, he was
a finance director of a company principally engaged in the
provision of network infrastructure solutions. From 1993 to
1998, he was the financial controller of a company principally
engaged in property investment, trading and securities. From
1987 to 1990, he worked in international accounting firms
handling audit, tax and accounting matters. From 2011 to 2023,
Mr. Leung was an independent non-executive director of Xiwang
Special Steel Company Limited (Stock code: 1266), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
since 2012. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of China Art Financial Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1572), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 14 October 2016.
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Mr. Hu Jianjun, aged 60, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director since 1 April 2021. He is
a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee. He obtained a master degree
of business administration in public sector management by the
University of South Australia in September 2003. He gained
the accreditation as a senior economist from Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China (“ICBC”) in September 1997 and
the qualification as certified financial analyst in the People’s
Republic of China in September 2007. Mr. Hu has over 38
years of experience working in the field of financial industry. He
started his career in Nanchang Branch of the People’s Bank of
China in February 1979. From October 1984 to December 2001,
he held various important positions in ICBC. He joined China
Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“Huarong”) (a company
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”); stock code: 2799), previously known as China
Huarong Asset Management Corporation, in December 2001.
He served successively as deputy general manager of Nanchang
Office, deputy general manager of Xi’an Office, general manager
of Nanchang Office, general manager of Customer Marketing
Department, director of the President Office, director of the
Board Office and general manager of Beijing Branch. He was
appointed as the company secretary of Huarong in January
2015 and resigned on 14 April 2017. He was also an executive
director of International Business Settlement Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 147)
for the period from 22 August 2017 to 31 August 2020. He
is a director of Shunho Cell Biology Technology (Tianjin) Co.,
Ltd. (a company listed on the National Equities Exchange and
Quotations; stock code: 833686) since 8 February 2021.
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Mr. Chen Xuezheng, aged 44, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director since 1 August 2021.
He is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee and also a member of the Audit
Committee. He is an associate professor in the School of
Economics at Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics.
He graduated from Xiamen University with a bachelor’s degree
of economics majoring in international economics and trade
in July 2001, and obtained a master’s degree in international
economics from the University of Essex in September 2004, and
a Master of Philosophy degree in economics and a Doctor of
Philosophy degree in economics from the University of Warwick
in September 2008 and April 2013 respectively. He was a
distinguished associate researcher in the School of Economics
at Sichuan University from 2013 to 2018. His main research
areas include new political economy, institutional economics
and behavioral and experimental economics. He published
five journal papers and several working papers from 2015 to
2019. He has won many awards for research excellence in this
research areas, including the Excellent Paper Award in the 15th
China Young Economists Forum, Outstanding Paper Award in
the 1st China Behavioral and Experimental Economics Forum,
and the 18th Sichuan Province Excellent Achievement Award in
Social Science.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Tsz Kit, aged 47, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company. He joined the group in March 2024. Mr. Chan
has over two decades of extensive expertise encompassing
accounting, financial management, merger and acquisition
strategies, capital market financing, and listing compliance.
He holds a master degree of Business Administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Zhou Chao, aged 47, is the Chief Operating Officer of the
Company. He joined the group in March 2024. He had over
15 years’ experience of financial planning and analysis, project
investment and management, corporate governance, business
development and strategy in high-tech industries in USA and
Asia-Pacific Region also he had 7 years’ experience in managing
private equity and venture capital funds in global markets.
Mr Zhou holds a master’s degree of Science in Finance from
University of Denver.

Mr. Wan San Fai, Vincent, aged 50, is the company secretary
of the Company. He joined the Group in March 2007 and is
responsible for the corporate finance function of the Group.
He oversees matters relating to financial administration, and
compliance and reporting obligations of the Group. Mr. Wan
has more than 25 years’ experience in auditing, accounting
and financial management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Wan has worked for a company listed on the Singapore Stock
Exchange as its financial controller from 2005 to 2007. Mr.
Wan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Wan holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Cai Xijun, aged 55, is the general manager of Jiangsu
Pan Asia. He has more than 10 years of experience in sales
and project management. He joined the Group in 2000 and
is responsible for project management of EP projects. Before
joining the Group, he was office manager of Yixing Xinwei Group
Company Limited. He graduated from Hufu Middle School of
Yixing City.

Mr. Wu Dongping, aged 41, is the financial controller of
Jiangsu Pan Asia. He has about 15 years of experience in
financial management. He joined the Group in May 2014. Before
joining the Group, he was a finance manager of Yixing AGC
Ceramics Company Limited. He graduated from the Huaiyin
Institute of Technology, majoring in accountancy.
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The Board is pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and has
its principal place of business in the PRC at Baihe Industrial
Park, Xinjie Street, Yixing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC and
has its principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 1506,
15/F, Lippo Sun Plaza, No. 28 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the sales of EP products
and equipment, as well as undertaking of EP construction
engineering services in the PRC.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 8 of this annual
report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the major customers and suppliers
of the Group during the financial year is as follows:

The largest customer SO

Five largest customers in aggregate AAREFHEET
The largest supplier BAHER
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR ERE AT

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) or any shareholders of the Company (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in the
Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31
December 2023 and the state of the Company’s and the
Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 63 to 147.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil) as the capital
will be reserved for the development of the Group’s business
operations.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the distributable reserves of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB534,226,000 (2022:
RMB537,087,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the financial year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE BONDS

Details of movements of corporate bonds issued by the
Company are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the financial year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group, based
on total borrowings (including corporate bonds and amount due
to a related company) to the equity (including all capital and
reserves) was 8.3% (2022: 8.9%).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year were:
Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Jiannan (Chairman)
(appointed as Executive Director on 16 March 2023 and
appointed as Chairman on 27 November 2023)

Ms. Pan Chang

(appointed on 27 November 2023)
Mr. Jiang Xin

(resigned on 27 November 2023)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Fan Yajun
(resigned on 16 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny
Mr. Hu Jianjun
Mr. Chen Xuezheng

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory obligations.
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DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY
PROVISION

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director or
officer of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of
the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs and damages which he may incur or sustain in
the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto. Such provision is in force during the year under review
and as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the information disclosed in “Material Related
Party Transactions” in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted during or at the end of 2023, and there was no
contract of significance between the Company or a subsidiary
of the Company with the controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the year under review.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiary purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or the chief
executives of the Company had any interest or short position in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations, which would be required
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter C571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”), or which would be required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which would be required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, pursuant to the Model Code
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company,
or existed during the year under review.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as was known to the Directors and chief executive of
the Company, as at 31 December 2023, the following persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fail to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company

Name Nature of interest

=1 BEME

Mr. Jiang Xin (Note 2) Interest of controlled

corporation

BExE(72) REHEE
Beneficial interest
BEaEn

Praise Fortune Limited (Note 2) Beneficial interest

Praise Fortune Limited(#75%2) ExnEn

FERRNADQ ARG REER
RzEERAR

BARREENERITRABMA > K=
F_=Ft-_A=+—8 > FAAL(E
RAERABZRRHTRAERINRARF]
ZBEDHEARN T EEREES LIRS
GROIEXVERFE2 M3 M2 IEXARAR
Al FE R BRI AN A R R IR RE 75 M B 1
£33 IRREBFEZ EmBELMALZ
BEIORRWT ¢

RAEXTRS R AERKRND 2 EH

Approximate
percentage of

China Sky Global Investment Limited
(Note 3)

China Sky Global Investment Limited
(K17E3)

Beneficial interest

e

T o B

i
Bk
Bk

\

Number of issued share

shares held capital

2 BTRA

FriziR{ag B ZBHES
(Note 1)
irza))

356,568,000 (L) 38.40%

2,000,000 (L) 0.24%

356,568,000 (L) 38.40%

250,000,000 (L) 26.92%



Notes:

1. The Letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the shares/
underlying shares. The Letter “S” denotes the person’s short
position in the shares/underlying shares.

2. The long position in 356,568,000 shares were beneficially owned
by Mr. Jiang Xin, the former Chairman and an Executive Director
of the Company and Ms. Qian Yuanying. Mr. Jiang Xin holds
77,615 shares in Praise Fortune Limited (“Praise Fortune”),
representing approximately 60.07% in its issued share capital
and Ms. Qian Yuanying holds 51,600 shares in Praise Fortune,
representing approximately 39.93% in its issued share capital. Ms.
Qian Yuanying is the mother of Mr. Jiang Xin. Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
the spouse of Ms. Qian Yuanying, was deemed to have interest in
the Company.

3 These 250,000,000 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. Liang
Guanfei.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the
Company has not been notified by any person (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than the service contracts of the Directors
or any person engaged in the full-time employment of the
Company, concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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COMPETING BUSINESS INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS

Non-Competition Undertaking

Under the restrictive covenants of a share purchase agreement
dated 1 December 2007 executed among (i) YY Holdings as
vendor, (ii) Praise Fortune, Mr. Jiang Xin (former Director),
Mr. Jiang Quanlong (former Director), Ms. Qian Yuanying and
Mr. Jiang Lei (former Director) as covenantors, and (iii) the
Company as the purchaser, each of Praise Fortune, Mr. Jiang
Xin, Mr. Jiang Quanlong, Ms. Qian Yuanying, and Mr. Jiang Lei
(collectively the “Covenantors”) has undertaken that he/she/it
will not and shall procure his/her/its close associates will not:

(@)

at any time disclose to any person, or himself/herself/
itself use for any purpose, and shall use his/her/its best
endeavours to prevent the publication or disclosure of, any
information concerning the business, accounts or finances
of any Group company, or any of its clients’, suppliers’
or customers’ transactions or affairs, which may, or may
have, come to his/her/its knowledge;

at any time during which the Company is listed on
the Stock Exchange and for so long as each of the
Covenantors and their respective close associates
collectively hold, whether individually or taken together,
30% or more of the issued shares or is regarded as the
controlling shareholder(s) of the Company under the
Listing Rules or for a period of two years from the date of
the Listing, whichever is the longest period of time:

(i) directly or indirectly solicit, interfere with, employ or
endeavour to entice away from any Group company
with a view to competing with the Group any person
who, to his/her/its knowledge, is now, or has during
the 12 months preceding the date of the share
purchase agreement been, a client, customer,
supplier or employee of, or has been in the habit of
dealing with, any Group company;

(i) at any time use the name or trading style of any
Group company, or any trademarks or logos or
device similar in appearance to any trademarks, in
the PRC, Hong Kong or any other part of the world,
or represent himself as carrying on or continuing
or being connected with any Group company or its
business for any purposes whatsoever; and/or
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(i)  directly or indirectly carry on or be engaged or
concerned or interested in the businesses of (i)
the production of water treatment and flue gas
treatment and solid waste treatment equipment and
components and pipes; (ii) the sale and installation
of water treatment and flue gas treatment and solid
waste treatment equipment and pipes; and (i) the
contracting of water treatment and flue gas treatment
and solid waste treatment projects, being the current
principal businesses of the Group.

Each of the Covenantors has undertaken in favour of the
Company under the share purchase agreement to procure the
provision to the Company of all information necessary for the
enforcement of the above undertaking. Each of the Covenantors
further undertakes in favour of the Company to make a
statement in the annual report of the Company confirming
compliance by it and its affiliates with the terms of the non-
competition undertaking in the share purchase agreement.
The Company has received the confirmation in relation to
compliance by them and their affiliates with the terms of the
non-competition undertaking in the share purchase agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Each of the Covenantors has confirmed that he/she/it is not
currently engaged in any business, which directly or indirectly
competes or may compete with the Group’s business.

The Independent Non-executive Directors shall review, at least
on an annual basis, the compliance with the non-competition
undertaking by each of such persons on their existing or future
competing business and the Company shall disclose the result
of such review either through the annual report of the Company,
or by way of announcement to the public. The Independent
Non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed the
compliance by each of such persons with the non-competition
undertaking for the year ended 31 December 2023.

As the controlling shareholders namely, Praise Fortune,
Mr. Jiang Xin (former Director), Mr. Jiang Quanlong (former
Director), Ms. Qian Yuanying and Mr. Jiang Lei (former Director)
have given non-competition undertakings in favour of the
Company and none of them has interests in other businesses
that compete or are likely to compete with the business of
the Group, the management and operation of the operating
entities are independent from each other. The Directors are of
the view that the Group is capable of carrying on its business
independently of the controlling shareholders.
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ESERE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 148 of
the annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

The retirement schemes of the Company and its subsidiaries are
primarily in form of contributions to the Hong Kong mandatory
provident fund and China statutory public welfare fund.
Particulars of these retirement schemes are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of,
dealing in, or the exercise of any rights (including entitlements to
any relief of taxation) in relation to the shares, they are advised
to consult an expert.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, during the
financial year, the changes in information on Directors and Chief
Executives are as follows:

1. Mr. Guo Jiannan was appointed as Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer with effect from 16 March 20283.
Mr. Guo was also appointed as Chairman, Authorized
Representative and member of Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee, in each case with effect from 27
November 2023.

2. Ms. Pan Chang was appointed as Executive Director with
effect from 27 November 2023.

3.  Mr. Chan Tsz Kit was appointed as Chief Financial Officer
with effect from 22 March 2024.
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4.  Mr. Zhou Chao was appointed as Chief Operating Officer
with effect from 22 March 2024.

5. Mr. Fan Yajun was resigned as Non-executive Director
with effect from 16 March 2023.

6. Mr. Jiang Xin was resigned as Chief Executive Officer
on 16 March 2023. He was also resigned as Chairman,
Executive Director, Authorized Representative and member
of Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
in each case with effect from 27 November 2023.

7.  Mr. Wan San Fai, Vincent was resigned as Chief Financial
Officer with effect from 22 March 2024.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by Ascenda Cachet CPA
Limited. Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Guo Jiannan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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Ascenda CACFET

RIE7R[IF]

TO THE MEMBERS OF PAN ASIA ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Pan
Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 63 to 147, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended and notes, comprising material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

10/F Tien Chu Commercial Building
173 Gloucester Road

Wanchai Hong Kong
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

FARELEE(E)

Impairment of the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets

BEREEWEZREARCREERE

Refer to notes 2(f)(i), 2(h), 2(i) and 31(a) to the consolidated financial statements for the directors’ disclosures
of the related accounting policies, judgements and estimates and notes 17 and 30(a) to the consolidated

financial statements for further information.

BEZRABS IR  HETR G ERE D AR A B EREZNTZE200) » 2(h) « 2()%31(a) » #— 2 EHEFRE

A EHRAMNE17X30(3)

Key Audit Matter
FARERSE

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade
receivables and contract assets was approximately
RMB30,106,000 and RMB22,263,000 as at
31December 20283, net of impairment losses of
approximately RMB9,414,000 and RMB2,361,000.
RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H X EBESEZENKE
SHRERGREERAE(KRANKBREEFREONAR
#9,414,000 7T F A R #2,361,0007T ) 49 & A K
30,106,000 T F1 A R #22,263,0007T °

The assessment of impairment of trade receivables
and contract assets under the expected credit loss
(“ECL”) model requires the application of significant
judgement and estimates by management. The
ECL on trade receivables and contract assets are
assessed individually for debtors which are credit
impaired and collectively using a provision matrix.
EHEEEE((FEHREEEREDEX THERKE SR
1B R & REERE AR EIEEREAE ARG
e BRWESRIEBEREREENTBREEEE A
BEERENEBR AR RERBEEBREER TG
1 o

Management also considered forward-looking
information that may impact the customers’ ability to
repay the outstanding balances in order to estimate
the expected credit losses for the impairment
assessment.
ERENEEN T ERPAEREGERIERLENTN
RIBEIEE R - LUETTRUER AT TR EEEE -

The Group recognised net impairment loss on
trade receivables and contract assets amounting to
approximately RMB4,347,000 and RMB1,515,000
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
EEERBE_T_=F+_A=1+—HILFEH®
RERESRERAREEREERFRNARE
4,347,0007T A A R #1,515,0007T °

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AR E XN REEAREZSE

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment on the Group’s trade
receivables and contract assets included, among
others, the followings:

AZBMREREY BESERKESRERERE
ERRENERTNEFEFE(HPEIE)

o Understanding the design, implementation
and operating effectiveness of the Group’s key
controls over credit control, debt collection and
impairment assessment under the ECL model;

e BE BESEREHEERERAT  HEEE
il - EBWE R EN AN EEERE Rt B
Bt BB AERI AR

o Evaluating the reasonableness and
appropriateness of the information used by the
management to develop the provision matrix
including ageing analysis of trade receivables
and contract assets, on a sample basis, by
comparing individual items in the analysis with
the relevant sales invoices;

e HEFIEEEESITEGREREMAEL(BEE
WEZHIEREREENRERAN) 2GR HER
BEE - ERRBZA TN ERE HAEREHEE
BREITILH
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Impairment of the Group’s trade receivables and contract

assets (Continued)

BEEEREWESZREARSREERE(HE)

Key Audit Matter
FAREZSIE

Based on the management’s assessment on the
impairment of trade receivables and contract assets
under the ECL model, the management concluded
that the impairment loss on trade receivables and
contract assets was adequate as at 31 December
2023.

ENEREERBENEEFREAHREEZKEAR
BREERENGE  BEEERR R-_T_=F
t-_RA=T—HAZEKEZFARAREEREEE
Bre -

We selected this as a key audit matter due to the
higher degree of estimation uncertainty and the
subjectivity in management’s judgement involved
in determining the expected loss allowance of the
trade receivables and contract assets.
HRERSNEFTHARRELEEEETRKE SR
ERhEREEEHEBREBEERN B G - 2B
EERNERBEREZSEA -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AR EZ M EEEAREXSE

° Assessing the reasonableness of
management’s judgement and estimates
in determining impairment loss on trade
receivables and contract assets as at 31
December 2023 by examining the information
used by management, including review
of management’s identification of trade
receivables and contract assets with credit
impaired, testing the accuracy of the historical
default data, evaluating whether the historical
loss rates are appropriately adjusted based
on current economic conditions and forward-
looking information, and examining the actual
impairment losses recorded during the current
year;

e MEEREEER-_T_=F1+-A=1+—HE
WE HHRIBERAEREEREBEREH@ &Gtz
BIEE - ERELEEEEMAEN  BIEER
BHEERERKE S HIERE REENZRIH
At BIEUBER OB ERE - SHERES
BEESREMKERR LA EERZ R

B URBEAFERNEGNERBESSE

° Recalculating the impairment losses on trade
receivables and contract assets as at 31
December 2023; and

e HHRZZEZ=FF+ZA=+—HZEKEZK
HREREERERE &

° Checking, on a sample basis, the subsequent
settlement of trade receivables and contract
assets by the customer after the end of the
reporting period.

e ERWMEEE BRERSHERFENKEZHIE
REREBE BB -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Revenue recognition relating to sales of goods

FREREENRARER

FARELEE(E)

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the significant accounting policies in note 2(q) to

the consolidated financial statements.

FLHGE B HAN T4 RE A B BRI E2(QH L B ST HR -

Key Audit Matter
BRERSE

The Group’s revenue was derived from sales of
environmental protection (“EP”) products and
equipment.
EEBRBLOWAKRBHERR(TRR] EmER
1 e

For sales of EP products and equipment, the amount
of revenue recognised during the year is dependent
on the point in time the transfer of the control of the
goods from the Group to the customers.
HHERREMNRRBEN S FRBIBHBRASER
FEREHEAREBREEEEPNRBEME °

We selected this as key audit matter because there
is a significant inherent risk over the recognition of
revenue by the management to meet specific targets
or expectations and the significance of revenue in
the context of the consolidated financial statements.
AEZBAMERMIERBEREEREE  BAEEERM
REEEENFEHMERRAFEERERRR - KA
MR AEGEMBHRERPONEEN -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
AZHAE RN EEEARERSE

Our procedures in relation to the Group’s revenue
recognition of the sales of goods included, among
others, the followings:

s EEEFEEERNRAERIRITNIRF
BIE(EBERE) :

° Obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of the Group’s key internal
controls over the revenue recognition including
the control over recording work done, invoicing
and cash receipts;

o  THRYFMH EEEABRAERHRREAEE
HHRE - BRELEEERIE - BRERHE T
B TR ~ HRERIR S WARIER]

° Checking, on a sample basis, the terms set out
in the sales contracts and assessing whether
the control of the goods had been transferred
to the customers by the review of delivery
notes and customers’ acceptance;

s  MEREHEARTERINAGK  WEEHEHR
BEEREFPNBEFHERIZEFIEEECERE
®PF

o Inspecting sales contracts, on a sample basis,
to assess whether management recognised
the related revenue in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies, with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards; and

s  HBRREHESR  2ERITYIEANRE
AHEEERSKER EREN S BRERE
A &

° Testing of samples of revenue related journal
entries on a sample basis and by inquiring
management of their nature and also
validating the samples selected to supporting
documents.

o HEARABMKRANGCERSSEAR - MERREH
FMHEMTE » WiEMERNERAAZRAXM
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. The
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

B 2B AR

LHMBEZGAMBHRR2EE

(#8)
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e i BERETERAXBEINY
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2HREL -

AZBMEEZEZEERA T (AP EE)
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERGREEARAF

Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B ET RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lai Wing Ip.

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 26 March 2024

Lai Wing Ip
Practising Certificate Number PO7296
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEeRaRkEMEEIER

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other net loss

Selling and distribution expenses
General and administrative expenses
Finance costs

Profit before taxation

Income tax expenses

Profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to owners
of the Company

Other comprehensive loss for
the year

Item that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:

— Exchange differences on
translation of financial
statements to presentation
currency

Total comprehensive loss for
the year attributable to owners
of the Company

Earnings/(loss) per share
Basic and diluted

WA
SHERA

EF

H b Yy a8
H b B 18588
HE M HFAX
—RRITHFX
BEMA

FR#EATEF
PSRRI
ADFEEAEBILFA
R (BR)
FREMEEER
W TEEFHHE
Bas ZIBH -

— BEPBHRRE

ENEREL L
EHERR

ADFHEAABIEFAZE
BRAE

BREF (&HR)
EAXNE#T

The notes on pages 69 to 147 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE_ZT-_=—F+_A=1+—HIEE

2023 2022
—EC-=HF ===k
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

HiiE AR® TR ARETT

4 220,336 155,568
(191,903) (135,544)

28,433 20,024

5 2,417 4,459
6 (6,143) (5,217)
(1,024) 912)

(14,811) (15,343)

7(b) (2,753) (2,855)
7 6,119 156
8 (4,668) (1,055)
1,451 (899)

(1,637) (8,087)

(186) (8,986)

RMB cents RMB cents

ARE2 ARE S

13

0.17 (0.11)

F60H F147H 2 M EBALRA M HE
285 -
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERGREEARAF

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

As at 31 December 2023
RZZEZ=F+=-H=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Deferred tax assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Corporate bonds
Lease liabilities
Tax payable

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT

LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Corporate bonds
Lease liabilities

NET ASSETS

FRBEE

Wx -~ BB R&RE
EREEE
EREHIREE

RENEE
FEWE 7 I K b 7R R
e KIRTTRERR

REEE
FEfTE 5 R E M FRIR
NAEES

FEfI IR

RENEEFE

BEEQENRBAERE

FREBAME
NGIIEE

BEEFE

Note
k3

14
15
22(b)

17
18

19

21

20
22(a)

21
20

2023 2022
—E-=H == —dE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Tx ARET T
311 292
1,107 360
2,944 1,478
4,362 2,130
52,547 47,778
1,235,816 1,202,701
1,288,363 1,250,479
120,659 81,551
11,781 -
468 354

729 2,533
133,637 84,438
1,154,726 1,166,041
1,159,088 1,168,171
20,884 47,540
711 -
21,595 47,540
1,137,493 1,120,631
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAREE
Share capital &7
Reserves e

TOTAL EQUITY fERSAREE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 147 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
26 March 2024 and were signed on its behalf by:

Guo Jiannan
PR F
Director

EF

The notes on pages 69 to 147 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.

mE B ESIR L R

As at 31 December 2023
RZT—_=F+=-A=+—H

2023 2022
—EC-=HF ===k
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

HiiE AR® TR ARETT

23 86,149 78,073
24 1,051,344 1,042,558
1,137,493 1,120,631

KEZeN T _NFE=F _+,xBitE
R IRAET| 3 E63 B 2147 B 2 é2 A I 7& 3R
KA NINESKERESE

Pan Chang
i
Director

EF

FOOHE147 B Z Mt B AL A B SRR
Z=a%% ©
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERGREEARAF

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REREE2ER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

As at 1 January 2022 RZFZZ&-A-R
Loss for the year EnER
Other comprenensive loss ~ Eft2EEE
- Exchange differences - BEUHERE
on translation of SYIRBEEL
financial statements to EiEE
presentation currency

Total comprehensive loss for  ER2 EEREE
the year

Transfer to retained profits
upon lapse of share options

REREANKERE
RERM

As at 31 December 2022 and R=E==%F

1 January 2023 TZA=+-BR
“2-=%£-8-A
Proft for the year FREF
Other comprehensive loss ~ Eft2EEE
- Exchange differences - REHBRRE
on translation of 2J|8HELEL
financial statements to EiEE
presentation currency

Total comprehensive loss for A2 EERLEE

the year
Issue of shares BORGHeEo1%23)
(Notes 21 and 23)
Asat 31 December 2023  WN-E-=F
T=A=+—H

The notes on pages 69 to 147 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

Attributable to owners of the Company

G EPN,
Enterprise  Statutory Share
Share Share  Special expansion  surplus Translation option  Retained
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total
% R

B RAEE GHRGE EREE  EHGEE  EXRE BREGRE REER ik
RVB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETL ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR

(Note 23)  (Note 24())  (Note 24(ii)) (Note 24(iv)) (Note 24(iv)) (Note 24(v)) (Note 24(v))

(Hiz23) (o) (o) (Wazoapy) (Hiteapy) (HEa4y) (HEo4)
78073 466,844 94,205 1,303 1,302 (4,018) 6,416 485472 1,129,617
_ B h = = - - (899) (899)
" i : - - (8087 - - (808
- - - - - (8,087) - (899) (8,986)
_ 1 . - - - (6416) 6416 -
78,073 466,844 94,225 1,303 1,302 (12,103) - 490,989 1,120,631
- - - - - - - 1,451 1,451
- - - - - 1,63 - - (1,637)
- - - - - (1697) - 1,451 (186)
8,076 8,072 - - - - - - 17,048
86,149 475816 94,225 1,303 1,302 (18,742) - 492,440 1,137,493
EE9OEF147 B 2 M B AR & M &

Z— 87 o




Operating activities
Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Net impairment loss recognised on

— trade receivables

— contract assets

— other receivables
Interest expenses
Interest income

Changes in working capital
Increase in trade and other
receivables
Increase in trade and other
payables

Cash generated from/(used in)
operations

PRC Enterprises Income Tax paid

Net cash generated from/
(used in) operating activities

Investing activities
Interest received

Payments for acquisition of property,

plant and equipment

Net cash generated from
investing activities

Annual Report 2023
“EI=FEER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

R EE
BR Bt A

B

lp
OF]

E3T o

ME  BERREBZITE

EREEEZNE
EHERBEREEFR
—RWE SR
—AREE
— B At YRR
FBFX
FEWA
EEESEH

FEWE 5 I B b R IR AN
FETE 5 I H A R IR AN
REXBHELE (ER)Z
Be

ENFEERMEH

REFTHMELE (ER)2Z
ReEE

REEH
B
BEW% - BER

R

REFHEEZHEFHE

Note
i3

22(a)

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BHE-Z-=—"F+-A=1T—HLEE

2023 2022
—E-=fF =E==rfs
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Tx ARET T
6,119 156
110 227

628 752
4,347 4,918
1,515 299
281 -
2,753 2,855
(2,412) (4,324)
13,341 4,883
(10,909) (46,519)
28,484 9,498
30,916 (32,138)
(7,938) -
22,978 (32,138)
2,412 4,324
(128) (22)
2,284 4,302
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERRREBARATF

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= T (=L
MEHERER
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

Financing activities BEEE
Advance from a related company KA A Al 2 B
Interests paid on corporate bonds B RARESFHE
Redemption of corporate bonds BEEQTES
Repayment of advance from a EERIE N R 2 AT
related company
Settlement of lease liabilities EEgHEaE

Net cash generated from financing RIEFHFEL 2R ELFHE
activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReRERBELER
and cash equivalents i GRL)iRE
Cash and cash equivalents at FzRERER
beginning of the year RELER
Effect of foreign exchange rate INEEEESE B REHE

changes, net

Cash and cash equivalents atend FRZAEREFH
of the year ReL1EH

Analysis of the balance of cash and R&RZERIRELIEH
cash equivalents HEEDH
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTAE R

The notes on pages 69 to 147 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.

2023 2022

—EC-=HF ===k

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Kia# AR®Tx ARET T
33 10,057 13,517
2 e (1,242) (2,772)
21, 33 - (855)
S (369) (625)
15, &8 (597) (821)
7,849 8,444
33,111 (19,392)

1,202,701 1,222,063

4 30

1,235,816 1,202,701

18 1,235,816 1,202,701

E69EE14
AN

Z—85 -

TR Z M B AR A MRS RR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company
and registered in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information”
section to this annual report.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sales of
environmental protection (“EP”) products and equipment,
and undertaking of EP construction engineering services
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), and
investment holding.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CQO”). These
consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and amended
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

—REN
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ERRREZHE EPEARK
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BRI BEERK -

BEAEFHE
(@ SHEH

HERAMBHRRCOREEE
SR AE([ERB A
DEMZAEERZERE
BYBHREEL([FBHBR
SEA DT BERAER
ZERE M B RELER - F
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Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERGREEARAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements is the historical
cost basis except for certain financial instruments,
which are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 31.

2.

EXEFEERR)

(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases.

Intra-Group balances, transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from
intra-Group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-Group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary, and any related non-controlling interests
and other components of equity. Any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary is measured at fair
value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(f)(ii)), unless it is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group classified as held for sale).

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE
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RERGREEARAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

()

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses (see note 2(f)(ii)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives.

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
Leasehold improvements 1 year to 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Machineries 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component for
all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on
a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(f)(ii)).

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

2. BEAEFEEE)
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HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

(f)

Leased assets (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for
separately from the right-of-use assets in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to investments
in non-equity securities carried at amortised cost.
Any excess of the nominal value over the initial fair
value of the deposits is accounted for as additional
lease payments made and is included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on the following
items:

- financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
and trade and other receivables); and

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15
(see note 2(h)).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Generally, credit losses are
measured as the present value of all expected
cash shortfalls between the contractual and
expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following rates if the effect is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables and contract assets:
effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof;
and

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. This includes information about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the
items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when measuring
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit
assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in
default when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or

- the financial asset is 90 days past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change
in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a
loss allowance account.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
being more than 90 days past due;

the restructuring of a loan or advance by
the Group on terms that the Group would
not consider otherwise;

it is probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties
of the issuer.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
or contract asset is written off (either partially
or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;
= right-of-use assets; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group of cash-
generating units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average cost formula and comprises
all costs of purchase, and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 2(q)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(f)(i) and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional (see note 2(i)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. A contract
liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see note 2(i)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

(i)

0

(k)

Contract assets and contract liabilities
(Continued)

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see note

2(q)(ii)).-
Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain
a significant financing component and other
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost (see note 1(f)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings (including corporate
bonds) are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequently, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is
recognised in accordance with note 2(s).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value and are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

e IR R MR
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

U

(m)

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents
are assessed for ECL in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy set out in note 2(f)(i).

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction
from the proceeds.

Employee benefits
(i)  Short term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed
as the related service is provided. A liability is
recognised for the amount expected to be paid
if the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of
past service provided by the employee and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all eligible employees. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’
salaries, allowances and other benefits and are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s
employer voluntary contributions, which are
refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to the contributions
vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of companies in the PRC
participate in the basic pension plan set up and
administered by local authorities of Ministry of
Human Resource and Social Security. Monthly
payments of premiums on the basic pensions
are calculated according to prescribed
bases and percentage by the relevant local
authorities. When employees retire, the relevant
local authorities are obliged to pay the basic
pensions to them. The amounts based on the
above calculations are recognised as liabilities
in the accounting period in which the service
has been rendered by the employees, with a
corresponding charge to the income statement
for the current period or the cost of relevant
assets.
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2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

(o)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises costs for a restructuring.

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business
combination, or items recognised directly in equity or
in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current
tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the
tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is
measured using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also
includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(0)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is
not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences;

- temporary differences related to investment
in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture
to the extent that the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not
reverse in the foreseeable future;

= taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill; and

- those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(0)

(9)]

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they
can be used. Future taxable profits are determined
based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted
for reversals of existing temporary differences,
are considered, based on the business plans for
individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax
assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realised; such
reductions are reversed when the probability of future
taxable profits improves.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of goods, the provision of
services or the use by others of the Group’s assets
under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

(i)  Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group is the principal for its revenue
transactions and recognises revenue on a gross
basis, including the sale of electronic products
that are sourced externally. In determining
whether the Group acts as a principal or as an
agent, it considers whether it obtains control of
the products before they are transferred to the
customers. Control refers to the Group’s ability
to direct the use of and obtain substantially all
of the remaining benefits from the products.

Revenue is recognised when control over a
product or service is transferred to the customer
at the amount of promised consideration to
which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes.

(@) Sale of EP products and equipment

Revenue is recognised when the
customer takes possession of and
accepts the products. Payment terms
and conditions vary by customers
and are based on the billing schedule
established in the contracts or purchase
orders with customers, but the Group
generally provides credit terms to
customers within six months upon
customer acceptance. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in
paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does not
adjust the consideration for any effects
of a significant financing component as
the period of financing is 12 months or
less. For sales contracts that had an
original expected duration of one year
or loss, the Group has not disclosed the
information related to the aggregated
amount of the transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligations
in accordance with paragraph 121(a) of
HKFRS 15.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i)  Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(a)

Sale of EP products and equipment
(Continued)

The Group offers warranties for its
products for ranging from six months to
two years from the date of sale. A related
provision is recognised in accordance
with note 2(p).

Design Service

Revenue from design services in the
contract is recognised when the customer
takes the possession of and accepts the
design work performed.

(i)  Revenue from other sources and other income

(a)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method. The “effective
interest rate” is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset. In calculating interest
income, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset (when the asset is not credit-
impaired). However, for financial assets
that have become credit-impaired
subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If the asset
is no longer credit-impaired, then the
calculation of interest income reverts to
the gross basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the respective functional currencies of Group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency
at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured based on historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency
differences are generally recognised in profit or loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from
the translation of the following items are recognised
in OCl:

- an investment in equity securities designated as
at FVOCI;

- a financial liability designated as a hedge of
the net investment in a foreign operation to the
extent that the hedge is effective; and

- qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that
the hedges are effective.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisition, are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The
income and expenses of foreign operations are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCI
and accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to
the extent that the translation difference is allocated
to NCI.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

(s)

(t)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety
or partially such that control, significant influence
or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the
exchange reserve related to that foreign operation
is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal. On disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation that have been attributed to the NCI shall
be derecognised, but shall not be reclassified to
profit or loss. If the Group disposes of part of its
interest in a subsidiary but retains control, then the
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is
reattributed to NCI. When the Group disposes of only
part of an associate or joint venture while retaining
significant influence or joint control, the relevant
proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:
has control or joint control over the

Group;

ii. has significant influence over the Group;
or

ii. is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

2.

EXEFEERR)

(r)

(s)

(t)

SRS ()

W2 ER kB D B E BN ER T
TAREHE ERAFENHH
[l ¥EHI#E - EEINRISIERE 2
INERBRASHEETIRR
B (FRLEREERZ
—H#D - RHEEBREBINER
ZHBRRE - AREZEIE
BRINEZRNRFTESEE D
FoE SR e - K BURRE
R ETEENHDEERS -
AR L EH B AR RS
BEWIREBESE  RAEHE
ZIEEEE D SR B FE AR A
7o BEAEEELEROBE
NAXALEEESREERF
EHHHKRIZHE - RAEHE
Z AR B EF D AR

BERA

BE EEREERERER
BHHEMBEEEREHED
BEMBERY R ZEEKAT
ERRBERARZ — 87 ° Bt
EERAREL AR -

EHREAL

@ fHEBIATAL:  BIZA
ITHRZALTZERER
SEBRE -

o EHIRERER A

£

i WAEEEEAY
25 %

i. AAEESAEE
BRIz EEBEE
B8 -



Annual Report 2023
“EI=FEER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(t) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

Vi.

Vi,

viii.

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in note 2(t)(a).

A person identified in note 2(t)(a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

(u)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
Chief Executive Officer, who is the Group’s chief
operating decision maker (“CODM?”), for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to Definition of Accounting Estimates

HKAS 8
Amendments to Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities
HKAS 12 Arising from a Single Transaction

Amendments to International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model
HKAS 12 Rules

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 17

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9
- Comparative Information

The application of the new and amended HKFRSs in
the current year had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4. REVENUE

Revenue represents the fair value of the amounts received
and receivables for goods sold, and services rendered,
which excludes value-added and other sales taxes, and is
after deduction of any goods returns and trade discounts.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
during the year are as follows:

EP products
and equipment
RRERRE
2023 2022
ZBIZfE -z3o-E

RMB'000  RVB'000
ABRTR  ARETT

Types of goods or services EmIRIEER
Sales of goods ERHE
~ Water treatment products and - KRBERREE
equipment 122,182 155,568
- Flug gas treatment products and ~ —BRBEERRKE
equipment 98,154 -

A

WAEHRHEEmEEHRBEE K
N EWRIEN A FE - ETBERIE
BEFREMEER - WEAIRER
BRENE SN -

FRAXREBEFPERZBAAIIT :

EP construction
engineering services Total
RRBRIERRK @it
2023 2022 2023 2022

Z8-Cf -3o-fE ZBIZE -3

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AERTR  ARETn ARETR ARETR

- - 122,182 155,568

- - 98,154 -

220,336 156,568

- - 220,336 156,568

Timing of revenue recognition AR 2KH
A point in time F-BES 220,336 155,568

- - 220,336 155,568

Information about the Group’s performance obligation
Sales of EP products and equipment

The performance obligation is satisfied when the control
of the EP products and equipment has been transferred
to the customers, which is usually upon completion of
the installation and on-site testing. The trading terms with
customers are mainly on credit and payment in advance
is normally required from customers. A certain percentage
of payment is retained by customers until the end of the
retention period. Warranties associated with the sales
of EP products and equipment cannot be purchased
separately and they serve as an assurance that the
products and equipment sold comply with agreed-upon
specifications.

FRASEENREINESR
HERRERRHE

JB VB AR IRIREE am S AR 05 B 12
REBERPREN  BFERATK
ZEREBRGHAHR - BEFPORS
FERAEERT  BREFPBTAX
NENMK - FEPFEREETHLAZ
NREERBEBER - BHERRF
Em R REHEZREBLERE
B MREEREHERLRBENA
1 TE MRIE 2 IRFE °



Annual Report 2023
“EI=FEER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER INCOME

Interest income on bank deposits
Government grants (Note)
Sundry income

RITIF A B WA
BRI B (172 )
FERMA

Note: The Group was granted subsidies of RMB123,000 under the
Employment Support Scheme launched by the Government

of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region for the

payment of wages of employees during the year ended 31

December 2022 (2023: Nil).

OTHER NET LOSS

Net impairment loss recognised on:

— trade receivables (Note 17(a))
— contract assets (Note 17(b))
— other receivables

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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2023 2022

—EgE=-= —_ g
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
2,412 4,324
- 123
5 12
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) o
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—E=HF =m==
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— HAth e U8 281 -

6,143 5,217
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

7.

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging the

following:

a) Staff costs (including directors’
emoluments (Note 70)):
— Salaries, wages and other

benefits

— Retirement benefits scheme

contributions (Note 9)

b) Finance costs:
Interest expenses on corporate
bonds (Note 21)
Interest on lease liabilities

c) Other items:

Auditor’s remuneration
— audit services
— other services

Cost of inventories (Note)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2023, the cost of

a) BEIRAX(BIEESHS
(K13%10)) :
—I%- HekIEMm

&
— RIREFFHBIHE5K
(H17#9)

b) BB RA :
RRIEFF B
(Hiat21)

HEREME

c) HithEH :
1% BREH N &
— BIZRG
— H A AR TS
BERA (A1)
ME - BERZBEZITE

EREEEZIE

inventories in relation to staff costs and depreciation,
amounts to approximately RMB3,000,000 (2022:
RMB2,711,000) which is also included in the respective
total amounts disclosed separately above.

Wit -

PR ¥ AT a F

BRBL AT M 2 HIER T 5158

2023 2022
—EgE=-= ==

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥Tx ARBETIT

12,277 12,554

642 430

12,919 12,984

2,706 2,819

47 36

2,753 2,855

1,287 1,223

432 411

191,903 135,544

110 227

628 752

BHE-_ZT-_=F+=-A=+—H
IHFERE TRARTEHRBN
7 & B A 49 A R 3,000,000 7T
(ZZ==F : AR¥2,711,000
JL) - MZe BB ALEXSH
WEZASEN -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8.
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(@) Income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income

represents:
Current tax — PRC Enterprise AHERFI IR —
Income tax RS
— Provision for the year (Note 22(a)) — RFERE
(Hia£22(a)
Deferred taxation IERER I8
— Origination and reversal of —TREEREZEL
temporary difference p&zE
(Note 22(b)) (Htet22b))

The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands,
respectively, are not subject to any income tax
pursuant to the rules and regulations of their
respective countries of incorporation.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25% of
the estimated assessable profits of the Company’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 as the Group did not have assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during both years.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law also requires
withholding tax of 10% upon distribution of profits
by the subsidiaries established in the PRC since 1
January 2008 to its overseas shareholders.

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

RESEGREMEEEES
RZAEW

(a) REeBEmkAMEEKER
ZFREHE

2023 2022
—EBZ=F =E==tf
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETT

(6,134) (2,533)
1,466 1,478
(4,668) (1,055)

ARBREMBRRDHIRF
SHEREBR L SEMK
o RERESBEMKIZ
BRZ R KRB EHNE
A FrSME o

R EMERIIBEAR A
RAERKY 2B RARIREE
—ECEFER B F
B=+—HLEFE ZhsrER
T om AR TR E25% 5T & ©

HRAEERBE-_Z_=F
kKZE-_—F+=-RA=+—H
IFFEIEREBRBZERE
s F) o BURA R A {8 6 I 4
EEFESHRIEL B -

TREEMBRENERE @ 8
—EENF-H—B& RBH
Cifpavardisl= FNCIICIE 93N
R E S M 2D IR AR 10% B 7
R ANTRIOT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

b S B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between income tax expenses and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates is as

follows:

Profit before taxation

Notional tax on profit before taxation
calculated at the statutory rates

applicable to respective tax
jurisdictions

Tax effect of non-taxable income
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Tax effect of temporary difference

not recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses

previously not recognised
Others

Income tax expenses

BR B A A

BERNESBRDA
R EERKRGE
BR LA A2 B3]
BiA

BERRBALZ
BB E

RAIB S 2
BB E

RERBIRBRZ
BGRE

AERERERZ
BGRE

B A 7E B AR HE R 75
EBRZRBEE

Hit

PSR

RESEGREMEEKES

RZIABH(E)

(b) BERABERAEZEBMX

HEER 2 HRMT -
2023 2022
—B=F —E-—

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tx ARBTIT
6,119 156
2,541 1,048
(1) (20)

2,045 2,296

1 1

82 gl
- (2,096)
- (174)

4,668 1,055
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance to join the MPF Scheme under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance and Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan managed by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the Group (the employer) and its employees
make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
contributions from each of the employer and employees
are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month and thereafter
contributions are voluntary. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established
in the PRC are members of a state-sponsored retirement
plan operated by the local government in the PRC and
these subsidiaries make mandatory contributions to the
state-sponsored retirement plan to fund the employees
retirement benefits. The retirement contributions paid
by these subsidiaries are based on a certain percentage
of the relevant portion of the payroll of all qualifying
employees in accordance with the relevant regulations in
the PRC and are charged to profit or loss as incurred. The
Group discharges its retirement obligations upon payment
of the retirement contributions to the state-sponsored
retirement plan operated by the local governments in the
PRC. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group’s contributions to retirement benefits schemes
amounted to RMB642,000 (2022: RMB430,000) for the
years ended 31 December 2023:

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Group had no forfeited contributions under its retirement
benefit scheme in the PRC and under the MPF Scheme
in Hong Kong which may be used to reduce the existing
level of contributions as described in paragraph 26(2)
of Appendix D2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange.

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

RIKBER A

REBEFBRGIERBEE TG R
FERBHEMRE  AREEHE
HIRBBRERBROIEE TAER
MBEEEESEREEE - B
EEEABUREAETRE Z ERE
HIRRETE - RIBRTESFE
AEE(EREE) REEEASA
EBRESHBWA(ERLRFIE
RIETFTEIRD]) 2 5% M axaT &l 1F
HitX - BEEREEBASHE 2H
FIA1,50078 T/ LR - 57 A FREE
SMEETR o B LT 8l 2 KBRS B 8 -

RRRRF B 2 KB RE 2’
B892 Erh it 77 BB VEY
REBZRINHE - ZEWB LA
[[% BB R & B 2 iR IKEH S 1E 58
B RA R 1B B 2 R I3 FII B2 1
B REMBRARXNZERAE
HERDLDERMEAEREEFNL
BRSO ZHEADL - RIRES
BERARE URBAELEZER
ArABE - NEBEER BT BT
BT E(E I i B X & B 2 SRR & 5T
XN ERERZRENAEEITH
REBRKEHNHEEME - H
AR HFASEE -

AEBHE_ZT_=ZF+= A
=+ — B IEFE ZRAKEF S 4#
A ANRE642,000L( =& = —
& . AR#¥430,0007T) °

HE_ T -_—FRE-_T__F+=
B=+—HLFE ZAEBREF
BlRR @A EI R B BB E
(BIEB X FTas 5 _E AR BIFIEkD258
26(2)EX Al AR BRE3R B HFUK T ) IH
TP R IR BERR o
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RERGREEARAF

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulations are as follows:

Name of director

Executive director
Mr. Jiang Xin (Note (a))

Mr. Guo Jiannan (Note (b))
Ms. Pan Chang (Note (c))

Non-executive director
Mr. Fan Yajun (Note (d))

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny

Mr. Hu Jianjun
Mr. Chen Xuezheng

EEfR

HiTES

k&L (Wite)
Br@RLEWitt)
BETL (M)

EHTES
EDELE(Wit)

BUHTES
REH L
HRELE
RERTE

10.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

b S B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
=&+ A=1+—HILEFE

EERESTTHRASMSE

RIEES QB EF £ 383(1) E kA
RI(EBESHZER) RBI2EFFT i
BLEEMaT

Year ended 31 December 2023

BECS-ZE4+A-+-HLEEE

Contributions
Salaries, to defined
allowances contribution
and other retirement
Fees benefits plans Total
e BER EHEMH
e HER BRI EIZER h
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
99 - - 99
86 - - 86
9 - - 9
22 - - 22
194 - - 194
54 - - 54
54 - - 54
518 - - 518
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Name of director EEfHS

Executive director HTEE

Mr. Jiang Xin (Note (a)) BELEWit)
Non-executive director FHITES

Mr. Fan Yajun (Note (d)) SBEELE(HE0)

Independent non-executive directors  BUFHTES

Mr. Leung Shu Sun, Sunny RHIEE
Mr. Hu Jianjun HREEE
Mr. Chen Xuezheng REBEE

Notes:

(@)  Mr. Jiang Xin was resigned as executive director on 27

November 2023.

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=1+—HILFEE

10. EERESTT
(nﬁ)

BASME

Year ended 31 December 2022
BE-ZT-—&E+-A=t-HILEE

Contributions
Salaries, to defined
allowances contribution
and other retirement
Fees benefits plans Total
Ea D 1) TR
e HtRF  RIGEIZER @5t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL ARETT ARETT AREFT
103 - - 103
103 - - 103
185 - - 185
51 - - 51
5il - - 51
493 - - 493
Biat -

@ BELEER-_ZT_=F+-—A8
Tt EABERTES -

(b)  Mr. Guo Jiannan was appointed as executive director on 16 by BEEMEER-_ZT-_=F=AH4
March 2023. TARBEZEANITES -
(¢)  Ms. Pan Chang was appointed as executive director on 27 ©0 FEXRIRZZTEZ=%+—A

November 2023.

(d)  Mr. Fan Yajun was resigned as non-executive director on (d)

16 March 2023.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
no directors received any emoluments from the Group
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. No directors has waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.

T EAERERNTES -

ERERER_F_=F=H
TARBBEIRITES -

BHE-_Z_=fr_FT-_—F+=
B=+—BLFE BMEEEEH
AN £ [ Y B AR {7 B 2 /B A (R i A
R INAREE R 2 85 sk BB~
BE(E - BEEmE BN M EFENE
HFRAEHRETMABE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

b S B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 11.
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(a) Five highest paid individuals

None (2022: none) of the five individuals with the
highest emoluments, is a director of the Company
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 10. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
remaining five (2022: five) individuals are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and other benefits #r& - 85 & H{th 42 F
Contributions to defined contribution ERERFURINGTEI 2
retirement plans R

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no emoluments were paid or payable by
the Group to the five highest paid individuals as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during both years.

The emoluments of the above five (2022: five)
individuals with the highest emoluments are within
the following bands:

Bands: # 5 -

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 TE
1,500,000/% 7T

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 TE
2,000,000 7T

(@)

mEMEATREREERE
[k

EEREHFAL

AEBEEMEALTHE(ZE
TZF E\EARREE H
&R BB M RE10 - EpF B
—T-—F: HR)ATZHE
EEFTT

2023 2022
—EBZ=F —Eo—&
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETT

4,001 3,804
71 67
4,072 3,871

BE_Z_=6®K_"ZFT_—%F
+ZA=+—HILEE ' K&
B ER A Rm 3 AT
Sl BRI BN < VB 2 1A 5% W (&
FERERFMAKA AR
SEF 2 RSB 2 B E -
i AHR(ZE——F : AH)
B2 e AT 284S HE7R
T

Number of individuals

AE
2023 2022
—E=F o T
3 3
1 1
1 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 11.

EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Senior management’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to senior
management (including one (2022: one) highest paid
individual as disclosed above) are within the following

bands:
Bands: # R :
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 1,000,000/ T
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 L&
2,000,000/ 7T
DIVIDENDS 12.

The directors of the Company did not recommend
the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-—T-—=F1+-A=1+—HItFE

MEALRSREEE

B
£(48)

= o

(b) EREEEME

it

ENHENTEREEE (S

B—%(ZZ==F:—%)t
MEFR s mmITALT) ZHE
R
Number of individuals
AE
2023 2022
—E=H ===
2 2
1 1
3 3

g2

AR EFTEZRNEEZ-F
—=EF+-A=+—BIEEEZXR
B (ZE_—F : &) -
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e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

13. BIREF (EE)
SREXEF, (HE)

ARBEEANREERELRRT
(B8R TRIA TR E -

2023 2022
—EBZ=F =E==4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETT

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable METEBRELRRER,(EE)
to owners of the Company for MENARRHES AR
the purposes of calculating basic FARmF, (E8E)
earnings/(loss) per share 1,451 (899)
2023 2022
—EI=H - S

Number of shares RiRE B

Weighted average number of ordinary ~ mtaf E&FREREN(EE)
shares for the purpose of calculating M K33 AR N 15 24

basic earnings/(loss) per share

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

Diluted earnings per share equals to basic earnings per
share as the Company has no potential dilutive ordinary
share outstanding during the year ended 31 December
2023.

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2022 was the same as the basic loss per share because
the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options
would have anti-dilutive effect.

844,373,223 840,000,000

SR#BEEF(BE)

BE_T_="F+_HA=+—HIL
FE BARBEECHENEEK
WER#ERNEGRERENE
E o

HRITEARE MARTTERBREZER
ERESYE BEBEE-_T_—
TTA=t-RALEFEZERES
EBIRESREANEERR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost:
As at 1 January 2022
Additions

Written off
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023

Additions

Written off
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2023

Accumulated depreciation:
As at 1 January 2022
Charge for the year

Eliminated on written off
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023

Charge for the year
Eliminated on written off
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December 2023

Carrying amounts:

As at 31 December 2023

As at 31 December 2022

14. Y% - BERRE

Furniture,
fixtures and Leasehold Motor
equipment improvements  Machineries vehicles Total
& HEN%E
HERRME #E He it n
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
B
e S Rl = 1,616 217 1,137 3,269 6,239
NE 22 = - = 22
Hsa - (182) - - (132)
AR 14 14 - 53 81
R=ZE=—&T=A=T-H

R-—E-=%—f—H 1,652 99 1,137 3,322 6,210
RE - 128 - - 128
it (52) (100) - - (152)
5% 2 2 - 9 13
REBZZETZAST-R ez 1™ Ve 53 6,199
2RIE:

R-E-—%#—-f—H 1,594 172 846 3,134 5,746
REERY 18 32 177 = 207
s B e - (132) - - (132)
ERA% 12 12 - 53 77

&_7__¢ H H 1,624 84 1,023 3,187 5,918
REERY 9 40 61 - 110
MiaEE (52) (100) - - (152)
BRAZ 2 1 - 9 12
REBZZETZAZT-R 18 5 1084 51%6 5,888
REE:

RZB_=%#+-A=+-H 19 104 53 135 311
R-Z-—_F+-A=1+—-H 28 15 114 135 292
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b S B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 1 January
Additions
Depreciation
Exchange adjustments

As at 31 December

Settlement of lease liabilities

Expenses relating to short-term leases

Expenses relating to leases of low-value
assets, excluding short-term leases of
low-value assets

Total cash outflows for leases

15. FHEEE

n—H—8
NE
e
B 5 S B

ISP A= 8

EEHEERAE

8255 HATH B AERE 2 FIST
HEEBEEEHERBL
X TEEEEEEE
ZHEHMEE

MEZRERILEE

Leased property

HEWE
2023 2022
—Eg-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Tx ARBTIT
360 1,048
1,365 -
(628) (752)
10 64
1,107 360
597 821
180 180
11 11
788 1,012
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e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. RfB AT ZIRE
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 =B === 5 =4=IF - z5
December 2023 are as follows: RNElZ EEMBARFFIBAT :

Proportion of ownership interest

AR
Place of incorporation/  Issued and fully paid  The Group’s
establishment and share capital/ effective  Held by the Held by a Principal activities and
Name of subsidiary type of legal entity registered capital interest Company subsidiary place of operation
AL/ HIBER ERTRERRE/ A58 BARE  HNEAF
WEARER EERRNE itfRA ERES 2} e TERBROELY
Pan Asia Environmental British Virgin Islands, US$200/ 100% 100% - Investment holding/Hong Kong
Protection Technologies limited liabilty company Ordinary Share RERR/ B
Limited RBRLES RO N0%7T/ Bk
Pan Asia Environmental The PRC, wholly-foreign- N/A 100% - 100% Sales of EP products and
Protection (Jiangsu) owned enterprise (Note (i) equipment, and provision of
Company Limited (Note () #E  iEBELE vl EP construction engneering
RERR(LE) R AR (W) services/the PRC
(Hith) HERREDREE - RER
RERTRER/ TE
Pan Asia Environmental The PRC, wholly-foreign- HK$100,000,000/ 100% = 100% Sales of EP products and
Protection (China) Company  owned enterprise Registered Capital equipment, and provision of
Limited (Note (j) hE EBELE 100,000,000 7/ EP construction engneering
RDRR(PE)ER A iR services/the PRC
(#ith) HERREDRES IR
RERTRER/ E

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting A 7R BY 2N 5 2 {F {n] B ) (A0 A6 4 A

at the end of the year or within any time during the year. B AR BEFMERESFFE -

Notes: Wit -

(i) The English names for these companies which were (i) ZERNPBRKIZ AT ZENS
established in the PRC are not officially registered but BWIHEEXEMBR2BTE @ K
included here as a translation for identification purpose. MERAEHECZBE ABER

15 HBRIZA -

(ii) As at 31 December 2023, the registered capital of this (i) R-—E—_=%=+—_HF=+—H -

company was not yet injected by the Group. ZA Al AR AR R B AE EE
A °

The Group had no subsidiaries which have material non- HE—_E—_=EN—_ T _—F+—

controlling interests during the years ended 31 December B=+—BIEE  N&BIEHK

2023 and 2022. BARHEERIIEAER -



110

Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited

RERGREEARAF

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables (Note (a))
Less: Impairment loss on trade
receivables

Trade receivables, net

Other receivables
Less: Impairment loss on other
receivables

Other receivables, net

Contract assets (Note (b))

Less: Impairment loss on contract

assets

Contract assets, net

Prepayments and deposits
Other tax recoverable

Notes:

(@) Trade receivables

FEW E SRR (A it (a))
W EAE BFRIAZRIE
E18

FENE 5 TR R

HoAth FE U R IA
B E AR UGRIE R E
BB

HoAth FE MR I F R

BREE(HED)
o BREEREREER
AREEFRE

BNREEE
Hfth AT Ui [B] 1R

The Group generally allows credit period ranging from O
to 180 days to its trade customers. Further details on the
Group’s credit policy are set out in note 30(a).

Credit is offered to customers following an assessment
of their financial abilities and payment track record.
Credit limits are set out for all customers and these can
be exceeded only with the approval from management.
Management also monitors overdue trade receivables, and
follows up the collection of these receivables.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

b S B

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

17. EWE S R H{thF1E

2023 2022
== —E—_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETTT
39,520 37,679
(9,414) (5,067)
________ 30,106 Fpet 232512
281 1,275
(281) =
______________ T el
30,106 33,887
24,624 14,478
(2,361) (846)
________ 22,263 Fiay w0102
167 248
11 11
52,547 47,778
g
(a) EKREZNE

AEBE-—RETHESFEFPOE
180EMEEN - EHAAEEE
ERRZE—FSFE - SHRWE
30(a) °

EEDEHERSNIT BN K
NRLEHERATFEN - AR A
RAEEPHIEEERSE &7
EEEEHM AR TBBILERE
ERME - EEENEEAHNE
WE IR - X8 " RAE K E %
FRUWFIR -
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables,
net of impairment loss, at the end of the reporting period,
presented based on the invoice date, which approximated
the respective revenue recognition dates:

NEAR
NMERA EBE—FR

Less than six months
Over six months but less than
one year

B R EER

Less: Impairment loss

The movements in the loss allowances for impairment of
trade receivables during the year is as follows:

As at 1 January Kn—A—H

Net impairment losses recognised BRI EEIRFE
(Note 6) (Hiate)

As at 31 December R+=—A=+—8H

The Group applied the ECL model prescribed by HKFRS 9,
and the impairment methodology of ECL model is set out in
note 30(a).

17.

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT_=F+-_A=1T—HILFE

P E 5 B Hith 708 (4])

HiaE - (%)
(@) BRESKEGRE)
AT RREWE ZHIAN & E R

RIFET B H (AR AR ER
BEIRE) 27 L L HBRREER

ZARERDAT

2023 2022

—E-= k- =il
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT ARETTT
26,622 34,479
12,898 3,200
39,520 37,679
(9,414) (5,067)
30,106 32,612

FRNZEKE 5 RIA 2 BE R R

HEHWT :
2023 2022
—E-=HF =F==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETT
5,067 149
4,347 4,918
9,414 5,067

AEBERBEEM GRS EA
FOMMEZBREEBEE
A MEREEERERZR
BT AN FIEES0(a) °
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HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17. EWE S R HMFIE(EF)
(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) Biat - (&)
(b) Contract assets (b) -EREE
The contract assets primarily represent the retention EREEXTZEEREBTFERZ
receivables from the contracts with customers. The FEWERRIE - EUWERKIE(—
retention receivables (generally 5% to 20% of the total MAEERBEEZS%E20%)
contracted value) are amounts which are not paid by the BEEARFACERPAEBE A
customers until expiry of the retention period (generally one —F)ERREPAXN &R -
year) as specified in the contracts. The contract assets are EZSREFNKAEGER - &R
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become BEEREREKESHIE -
unconditional.
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of FAZEREERBEEERES
contract assets during the year are as follows: AT :
2023 2022
—FZ= ===
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
As at 1 January ®n—A—H 846 547
Net impairment loss recognised BRI E RS (A 76)
(Note 6) 1,515 299
As at 31 December W= =r—E 2,361 846

18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

18. HERMRITHER

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group ReRRTEHBRAEEFEZ
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of RERREHHA A=A =N
three months or less. As at 31 December 2023, the bank TZEHBITER RZZT==
balances and deposits carried interests at the prevailing F+_A=+—H BIIEHE
market interest rate which ranged from 0% to 0.875% BERIBBITMESENENFO0NE
(2022: 0% to 0.3%) per annum. 0.875%(ZF =% : 0% %0.3%)
ETE o
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank balances R—ZF—_=F+=-_A=+—8H
and cash denominated in RMB that were either not freely REBEZTBEITERTBEBR LB
convertible and were subject to exchange controls in the WS INEE Gl 52 8 2 AA RS
PRC, amounting to approximately RMB1,235,696,000 BEZRITEHEBRASHABARE

(2022: RMB1,202,266,000).

1,235,696,0007L (=& = —4F : A
R #1,202,266,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. BENESZREMFRIA
2023 2022
—EgE=-= —_ g
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR AR¥ETTT

Trade payables (Note (a)) R E S 58 (Kt (@) 41,672 17,905
Accruals and other payables FERTE R R H A FE IR 12,759 11,325
Amount due to a related company FEAS — I BE S A 5] 5k I8
(Note (b)) (K1t (b)) 62,217 51,713
Financial liabilities measured at BHEER AT ENEREE
amortised cost 116,648 80,943
Contract liabilities (Note (c)) ERBENRZC) 3,540 400
Other tax payable Hofth FE T AR IR 471 208
120,659 81,551
Notes: -
(a) Ageing analysis of trade payables (a) ENESIREZREDSIT
The ageing analysis of trade payables at the end of each ENB S REN S HE Rz
reporting period based on invoice date is as follows: ZRBZREAITAT
2023 2022
—E=F =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBEFIT
Less than six months NMEAR 30,555 13,467
Over six months but less than NEANK EEBE—FR
one year 10,129 3,450
Over two years LA 988 988

41,672 17,905
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HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 19.

Notes: (Continued)

Hiat - (&)

BN E 5 R H it E (4)

(b) The amount due to Praise Fortune Limited, the Company’s (b) ERARRIZEERZEESH
immediate and ultimate controlling party, is non-trade in Praise Fortune LimitedX BT 3EE
nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayment on demand. ZMHE - EE8H 2ERERE

SKIEHE o
(c) The movement of contract liabilities are as follows: (c) BREEZEHET
2023 2022
—FZ= —ZT—-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
At 1 January ®n—A—H 400 -
Revenue recognised during the year REHEFFASGHNEBZFR
that was included in contract BRI A
liabilities at the beginning of the year (400) -
Increase due to cash received, AR BEREmIL M - TeiE
excluding amount recognised as BERERABAZ 25
revenue 3,540 400
At 31 December W= E =r—FE 3,540 400
20. LEASE LIABILITIES 20. HEAE

The lease liabilities were repayable as follows: AEENHEEEENT :

2023 2022
—EB=H =F==

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ETT ARBFIT

Within 1 year —&FR 468 354

After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFRA 496 =

After 2 years but within 5 years MEZBRFERA 215 =

1,179 354

Less: Amounts due for settlement B RN 218 B NS 2 0B

within 12 months shown (RREaE)
under current liabilities (468) (354)
Amounts due for settlement after 12 FER 128 B & 478 2 5
months shown under non-current (RIERshamsE)
liabilities 711 -
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CORPORATE BONDS

Corporate bonds issued during the year ended 31
December 2017

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company
issued five tranches corporate bonds with aggregate
principal amount of HK$25,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB21,278,000).

Two tranches of 4 years corporate bonds were subscribed
by Mr. Jiang Xin, a former director of the Company, and
his father, Mr. Jiang Quanlong, with principal amount of
HK$10,500,000 each (equivalent to RMB8,944,000 each)
which were matured in October 2021. In October 2021,
the mature dates of these two tranches corporate bonds
were extended to October 2031.

Three tranches of 3 years to 7.5 years corporate bonds
with aggregate principal amount of HK$4,000,000
(equivalent to RMB3,390,000) were subscribed by three
independent third parties, in which, two tranches of
corporate bonds with aggregate principal amount of
HK$2,000,000 had been settled in previous years.

Corporate bonds issued during the year ended 31
December 2018

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
issued one tranche corporate bond of 6 months with
a principal amount of HK$30,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB26,604,000) to an independent third
party. The bond matured in May 2019 and the mature date
was further extended to November 2024.

On 14 December 2023, the Company issued 88,679,245
ordinary shares of the Company to capitalise part of
the corporate bond of HK$18,800,000 (equivalent
to RMB17,048,000) in accordance with the debt
capitalisation agreement.

All corporate bonds are unlisted, unsecured and interest
bearing at a fixed interest rate of 6% per annum with
interest payable annually in arrears. The effective interest
rates of the corporate bonds as at 31 December 2023 are
ranged from approximately 6.0% to 9.4% (2022: 6.0% to
10.4%).

21.

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE_ZT-_=—F+_A=1+—HIEE

NG
BE-_Z—tHF+-A=+—H1
EENCRTATGES
HE_2—+t#+-_A=+—81t

FE - ARRBEITHABEATES -
R4 #8%8 525,000,000 7T (FHER
AER#21,278,0007T) °

MBAFREEFABESEE (KA
AAES) RERXRBRBERELER
8 - FHIAR$ % 410,500,000/ 7T
(HHERFH AR ES,944,0007T)
RZTEZ—F+AEH - R=F
——F+ A WMHAREHFNE
HERZE—ZE=—%+A4 -

= BN & #%84,000,00078 7T (HH %
AR #3,390,0007T) 23 £E7.5
FRABHFCH=ZRBILFE=TR
B - Hih /RS 4% 82,000,000/ 7T
NMBARBEHFEREFES

Bxz_2-\f+-A=t+—-AL
FENERTARES
BE_T-N\F+-_A=+t—8L

FE ARRAIM—BBIUFE=H%
T—H6MARARIES XA
30,000,000 L (HHER B AR
26,604,0007T) ° ZEHFR =T —
FRHAZE mMIEBADE—TE
EE-_ZT_MF+—H -

R-BE_=F+= H+EEI 7NN
RAIRBEBSEAHRREITAAR
88,679,245 % L@ PL - LAH‘“B"’“
A&E%18,800,0008 T (HENRAR
#17,048,0007T ) B AL o

FTERARIEHRALT - £EIKHEF
BERETEFHNE6%:TE - BRSFF
ERIERZEMAAE - R=ZT==
F+-_A=+—H ARESHZE
BAENF46.0%E04%( ==
T TF B.0%E10.4%) °
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21. CORPORATE BONDS (Continued)

Movements of the corporate bonds during the year are as

follows:

At 1 January

Effective interest expenses (Note 7(b))

Debt capitalisation
Interests paid
Redemption

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December

Analysed for reporting purpose as
follows:

Current portion

Non-current portion

n—H—AR
BRMBHZ (M7 b))
B EARE

BERFHE

B

PE 5 B

RTZB=EF—E

BEHDWHIT -

BIEREE
FERNEAER >

Carrying amounts repayable (based on the scheduled
repayable dates set out in the subscription agreements):

Within one year

Over one year but not more than
two years

Over two years but not more than
five years

Over five years

Total

—&FR
BB —FETEEMF

BBMEE T NRERF

BehF

21.

YNGITEE 16 )]
REBEFRFEAN2EEWT :
2023 2022
—EgE=-= ==
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tx ARBETIT
47,540 44,284
2,706 2,819
(17,120) -
(1,242) (2,772)
- (855)
781 4,064
32,665 47,540
11,781 -
20,884 47,540
32,665 47,540

BREZEEERERB BRI

ZHEZERR) ¢

2023 2022

—Eg-= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tx ARBTIT
11,781 -
1,673 27,004
- 1,606
19,211 18,930
32,665 47,540
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@)

(b)

The movements of tax payable in the consolidated

statement of financial position during the year are as

follows:

At 1 January
Provision for the year
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax
(Note 8(a))
Income tax paid during the year
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax

At 31 December

Deferred tax assets recognised

The major component of deferred tax assets

recognised and movement thereon are as follows:

At 1 January 2022
Credited to profit or loss (Note 8(a))

At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023
Credited to profit or loss (Note 8(a))

At 31 December 2023

R-T__F—H—H

sTAB=(H:£8(a)

RZZE-=—F+=-A=+—H
N—_ZT-_=F—H—H

ST A= (K:#8(@))

R=ZE=-=%+=A=+—H

22, ZEMBRRRAZMAER
(@) LRAEMBIHRRITHZ BT
THRERNZEEMT
2023 2022
—E-=F =E==4=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
n—A—H 2,533 =
NEFE RS
— R E P EATEH
(K17£8(a)) 6,134 2,533
FREMER
— R ECEATEH (7,938) =
R+=ZA=+—H 729 2,533
(b) CRRBELEHEEE

ERRBELEHBREECTEE

WEHREBBNT :

Impairment loss
on trade and
other receivables
ES RHEMEWIE
ZRERSE
RMB’000
ARBTIT

1,478

1,478
1,466

2,944
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22.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

()

(d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law with
effect from 1 January 2008 onwards, non-resident
enterprises without an establishment or place of
business in the PRC or which have an establishment
or place of business but the relevant income is not
effectively connected with the establishment or a
place of business in the PRC, will be subject to
withholding income tax at the rate of 10% on various
types of passive income such as dividends derived
from sources in the PRC. On 22 February 2008, the
Ministry of Finance and State Administration of Tax
approved Caishui (2008) No. 1, pursuant to which
dividend distributions out of retained profits of foreign
investment enterprises prior to 31 December 2007
will be exempted from withholding income tax.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has
unrecognised deferred tax liabilities of approximately
RMB36,626,000 (2022: RMB35,262,000) in
relation to withholding tax on undistributed
earnings of approximately RMB366,257,000
(2022: RMB352,624,000) due to the retention of
undistributed earnings by the subsidiaries established
in the PRC as determined by the directors of the
Company.

There are no income tax consequences to the
Company attaching to the payment of dividends by
the Company to its shareholders.

Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 December 2023, deductible temporary
differences in respect of tax losses not recognised
in these consolidated financial statements were
approximately RMB124,000 (2022: RMB893,000).
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of such deductible temporary differences
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
Included in the above are tax losses of approximately
RMB124,000 (2022: RMB893,000) which can only be
carried forward for a maximum period of five years.

22.

= AH
-lTI:l

(#8)

()

(d)

B AR R A Z PR 1S

AERIELEH ARG

BERZEZENF—A—AH
AR PBRBFEMGEE - W
R B S SR A TS 2 IE
HEMCEXINFBEKIHES
XS BHEBARALIEERER
B SER B X5 AE R - B
18T & EW@W%&WﬁE
AR 2 BB ) 12 10% B R 4R
EHREHR RZZZTN\EF
“—AZ+=H BHEBEEH
R 75 48 B #E fE B 1 (2008) 1
BN _ZTELF+ 8
=T—HRBINECERB R
FIVEH 2 B B2 IR 5 38 5 5
MTEFNETIS TR o

RZEBE_=F+_A=+—
B AEEBERDEEFDA
R #366,257,000(ZE ==
F : AR ¥352,624,000 7T )
Z I A @R ERELER
IHB E AL ARYS6,626,000
T(ZEZZF : AR¥
35,262,0007T) ' TR AR
RIE B R TE A EFR BRI A K
BARRBARDIKREFFTE -

ARAAERRZ A ZBE
BEARRE 25 m%;

RERIELEHREE

RZBEZ=F+=A=+—
B @ KRG E T ERERER
MR EEENENTRER
“EANRE124000 T (= F
——& : AR#¥893,0007T) °
FRA AR R FE & A TERT - A
EEWARZE BN R E
EMRAELEHIEEE - Lt
EHEREHREEBHARK
124,0007c( =T =4 : AE
#893,0007T) © EA A
=3 ke =
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23. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised and issued share capital

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each &R E1B0. 15T 49 &A%

Authorised: EIE -

As at 1 January 2022, R-_ZE-_—_F—HF—H -

31 December 2022 and 2023

F=F=4F=E
Issued and fully paid: BERITREE :
As at 1 January 2022 and R—ZE-_—F—AF—HRK

31 December 2022

Issue of shares (Note) BT (HT2E)
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZT_=%+—AH
= H

Note: On 14 December 2023, the Company settled the debt of
HK$18,800,000 (equivalent to RMB17,048,000) by issue of
88,679,245 ordinary shares of the Company in accordance
with the debt capitalisation agreement signed between the
subscriber and the Company on 1 December 2023.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to
the Company’s residual assets.

R ER =&

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

=== A==

. B
EER B BITRA
Number of
shares Amount
RipEE ot 2}
‘000 HK$’000
i FHT
4,000,000 400,000
840,000 84,000
88,679 8,868
928,679 92,868

(Equivalent to
approximately
RMB86,149,000
(2022:
Equivalent to
approximately
RMB78,073,000))
(HERHARE
86,149,0007T

— 58— —4E ¢

—_=

HEROARE
78,073,0007T))

Kzt : RZ—ZZTE_=F+=-—A+mWmA -
ARARBBREREALEKXAR A
R-E-_=F+-_A—HBHEE
MEBEAERRETARAR
88,679,245k L@k - FEE
718,800,000 7t (FHE K A
R #17,048,0007T) °

BB EAEREBTBERZ
BELAMAARRFREAD L
Sh—FRF - 2BEBRYAR
AFBEETEBERS -
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24. RESERVES

24. (#B

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning
and the end of the year are set out below:

As at 1 January 2022 R-E-_—F-f-H
Loss for the year ERER
Other comprehensive income Et2Eka
~ Exchange difference on -BENBERE
franslation of financial EIEREEY
statements to presentation EREE
currency
Total comprehensive income FREANGER
for the year
Transfer to accumulated loss upon  REERREXMEEAR
lapse of share options ZiEE
As at 31 December 2022 and A
1 January 2023 +-B=1t-8k
—$_-%#-8-H
Loss for the year FREE
Other comprehensive income £t 2mls
- Exchange difference on -HENBRRES
translation of financial JIEREEZER
statements to presentation 28
currency
Total comprehensive loss FRREFEEE

for the year
Issue of shares (Notes 21 and 23)

As at 31 December 2023
=

AREBHFE B B AR D 2 F
MR FREBRZHBRIANG S E
BB R o AN AR A B Bl 4B A RP
PREVNRFRZENEDFITH
BT

Attributable to owners of the Company

BB (H221823)

R_E-=F1_f

KRR AR
Share
Share Share Contributed Translation option Accumulated

capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
kx  RGEE BARR  EXfG BRERE | 2HEER o
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

(Note 23) (Note (i) (Note (i) (Note (v)) (Note (i)

(Wit23) (dn) (W) ey (KEw)
78,078 466,844 372,178 (98,649) 6,416 (296,511) 533,351
- - - - - (11,840) (11,840)
- - - 48,859 - - 48,859
- - - 48,859 - (11,840) 37,019
- - = - (6,416) 6,416 =
78,073 466,844 372,178 (44,790) - (301,935) 570,370
- - - - - (11,833) (11,833)
- - - 8,069 - - 8,069
- - - 8,069 - (11,833) (3,764)
8,076 8,972 - - - - 17,048
86,149 475,816 372,178 (36,721) - (313,768) 583,654
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24. RESERVES (Continued)

Share premium and reserves

Notes:

(]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is distributable to the owners of
the Company provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value and share premium of the
subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued for the acquisition of these
subsidiaries at the time of group reorganisation immediately
prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on 1 December
2007.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the nominal value of the ordinary
shares issued by the Company and the net assets value
of subsidiaries acquired through an exchange of shares
pursuant to the group reorganisation.

Enterprise expansion reserve and statutory surplus
reserve

Statutory surplus reserve and enterprise expansion reserve
are set up by the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC by way of appropriation from the profit for the year in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC. These subsidiaries are required to allocate certain
percent of its net profit for the year as reported in their PRC
statutory accounts to the statutory surplus reserve and
enterprise expansion reserve until such reserves reach 50%
of registered capital. These reserves are non-distributable.
The statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up prior
year losses of these subsidiaries, if any, and can be applied
in conversion into capital by means of capitalisation issues.
The enterprise expansion reserve is used for expanding the
capital base of these subsidiaries by means of capitalisation
issue.

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

24. f#fE(4R)
R EER G
HiE
i)  RAEE

REREHREREE  ARAZ
B wER DK TARAESR
A EEBERESRKREERZ
& ARARAARNEERBEE
FRERE B2 EIE o

(i) HERIGEE

7N 5 [ 7 R ) 7 4 8 P AR BB BT I8
AR ZEERKRD®ERERA
RABROR=_ZBELEFE+=A—
B B AT A AR B E AR
WHEZEMBABMRETRNZ
EfEZ =%

(i) BARS

ARRZHBABBREARFEH
TEBRRzEAERABEEEEA
FEBRBBAMRBHBARZEE
SREREE

(iv) SRRREEREIERRMHEE

EEBBRBEELEEBERFHEET
AR AR B S 2 82 B
BHEBETBEIEEEREBSETF
Ba MR - ZEH B R EMAE
SEEPEEAERBETMERZ
ETEOHFEANEEERR
EERECXERFRE EEZFH
EREEEMEARZ50% ° %F
TR 2K © JAE B BRFHEET
AR BERBEFEZEWNE AR
ZEBEBR(E) R L E AR ETT
ZHRBREBER - BPERERRF
B AN AERNMeBEIT 27 R
RZEMBRARZ EARER
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24. RESERVES (Continued)

Share premium and reserves (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)
(v) Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of the entities within the Group whose functional
currency is other than RMB. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2(r).

(vi) Share option reserve

The share option reserve arose upon on the grant of share
options of the Company and is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in note 2(n)(ii).

Distributable reserves of the Company

Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, share
premium and contributed surplus are distributable to
shareholders, subject to the condition that the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of share premium and contributed surplus if (i) it is, or
would after the payment be unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due, or (i) the realisable value of its assets
would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its share capital account.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders amounted to
approximately RMB534,226,000 (2022: RMB537,087,000),
computed in accordance with the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands and the Company’s articles of association.
This includes the Company’s share premium of
approximately RMB475,816,000 (2022: RMB466,844,000)
and contributed surplus of approximately RMB372,178,000
(2022: RMB372,178,000), less accumulated losses of
approximately RMB313,768,000 (2022: RMB301,935,000),
which are available for distribution.

24. fi#E (&)

PR 47 738 18 % {5 ()
Hiat - (&)
(v) ERREE

EXRERERELEEEFE
ARBZREBEERZMIERE
EEZMAINEEZRE - ARFR
RIS 2P & R BURBE IR A ©

(vi) MBEREERE

BRERBEDERHARAZE
PRiEmEL - RIRHTEE2(n) ()T
BETBREIE ©

RRB 2 A7 IKkEE

RERESHSRAE  BROEER
BARBA DK TBIR - HERALQ
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25. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its business by divisions and all those
divisions are located in the PRC. In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally
to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of resources
allocation and performance assessment, the Group’s
operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8,
Operating segments are organised into two main operating
segments including (i) EP products and equipment, and (ii)
EP construction engineering services. No other operating
segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated
in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

(@)

Segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and
liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s CODM monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on
the following basis:

Segment assets include all tangible and intangible
assets, and current assets with the exception of
unallocated cash and bank balances, deferred tax
asset and other corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include trade and other payables and lease liabilities
attributable to individual segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
generated and services rendered by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation
or amortisation of assets attributable to those
segments. Inter-segment assistance provided by one
segment to another is not measured.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/(loss)
is “adjusted EBITDA” that is, “adjusted earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation”,
where “interest” is regarded as including investment
income and “depreciation and amortisation” is
regarded as including impairment losses on non-
current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the
Group’s loss are further adjusted for items not
specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
directors’ emoluments, auditor’s remuneration and
other corporate administration costs.

25.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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25. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(@) Segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and
liabilities (Continued)

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s CODM
is provided with segment information concerning
revenue, depreciation, amortisation and impairment
losses and additions to non-current segment assets
used by the segments in their operations. Inter-
segment sales are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar orders.

Information regarding the Group’ s reportable
segments as provided to the Group’s CODM for the
purposes of resources allocation and assessment

of segment performance for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 is set out below:

Reportable segment revenue
from external customers
Inter-segment revenue

Reportable segment revenue

Reportable segment profit
(adjusted EBITDA)

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Net impairment loss recognised
on:
- trade receivables
- contract assets

Reportable segment assets

Reportable segment liabilties

ReNBERZI2BIH
BA
AHERA

hz BERRECNE
ERDHERREE
~EREAFE
-RREE
PEEGEl--S

BE=: vl

25. o EbERE (&)

(@) WA - BIARER  EE
REE&ER)
B I 2 A BE AR 58 BEBITDAZ
DEEEIN - AEECERE
BEARANERERRSDHE
BEEBRWA - TE - EEER
BEEENANIERE D EEER
BZDHER - HEEHEE T
K2EZGBEUTEmINBAL
WWER 2 BAR METTEE °
HE_ZT_=FR_T__F
+TZA=+—HILFE  #%E
R BE K BB R IR AT 4 1 [ A4S
SEEREEERRAREBZAR
SEAERSEAERFHT A
F ¢
EP products EP construction
and equipment engineering services Total
RRERRRE RRERTRER @it
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZB-=f  -z--&  CBCEE -3--F ZECZE —EoC
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TRE ARETT ARBTR ARETR ARMTR  \RETn
220,336 155,568 - - 220,336 165,568
220,336 165,568 - = 220,336 165,568
21,082 13,747 - - 21,032 13,747
(61) (177) - - (61) (177)
(4,347) (4,918) - - (4,347) (4,918)
(1,515) (299) - - (1,515) (299)
52,423 47,355 135 135 52,558 47,490
45,188 17,317 9,189 9,187 54,377 26,504
Me: REBEEZTZZ=FK=F

Note: There were no additions to non-current assets to
both reportable segments during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

——H#+-A=+—H1
FE - MER 235 T
BABIFRIDEE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,
profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Revenue
Reportable segment revenue
Elimination of inter-segment
revenue

Consolidated revenue

(Loss)/Profit

Reportable segment profit
derived from external
customers

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use
assets

Finance costs

Income tax expenses

Unallocated income

Unallocated head office and
corporate expenses

Consolidated profit/(loss)
after tax

Assets
Reportable segment assets
Unallocated cash and bank
balances
Deferred tax assets
Unallocated head office and
corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities

Reportable segment liabilities

Corporate bonds

Tax payable

Amount due to a related
company

Unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

WA
Al 237 B A
WsH D BRREIUA

=R N

(B51R) /&7
RESNBEF R R 25

7 &b Al

ME - BERRBITE

ERREEZNE

BMEKA
PSR <
Ao B s
ADEAEBREERAS

BEgaR AR,
(&18)

aE
280 HEE
APERS RRITHH

EERIAE E
AnEEREEEE

AEHNHAaE
NAEES

eI IR

FE 1 —IRARE & AI5RIA

Aok kEXaE

25.

BHE-_Z_=F1+—

S EpERE ()

(b)

A=+—HI%E

A2HDWWA - FEFRE

B EEREREZYHER

2023 2022
—Eg=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AREFIT
220,336 155,568
220,336 155,568
21,032 13,747
(110) (227)
(628) (752)
(2,753) (2,855)
(4,668) (1,055)
2,417 4,459
(13,839) (14,216)
1,451 (899)
52,558 47,490
1,235,816 1,202,701
2,944 1,478
1,407 940
1,292,725 1,252,609
54,377 26,504
32,665 47,540
729 2,533
62,217 51,713
5,244 3,688
155,232 131,978
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25. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(c) Information about major customers

Revenue from external customers individually
contributing 10% or more of the Group’s total
revenue is as follows:

Customer A
Customer B
Customer C
Customer D
Customer E
Customer F
Customer G

Revenue from the above customers during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are generated
from EP products and equipment segment.

(d) Geographical information

EFEA
=FB
EFC
ZFD
=FE
EFF
ZFG

(i)  Revenue from external customers

The following table sets out information
about the geographical location of the Group’
s revenue from external customers. The
geographical location of customers is based
on the location at which the services were
provided or the goods were delivered.

The PRC (place of domicile)

FEI(HEE)

25.

S EpERE ()

()

(d)

FREEEFZEHR

L I=REIEPY S irdl N RN
EEBKAI0%TA LT -

2023 2022
—E=fF ===
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT ARBEFIT
74,589 63,612
61,322 e
34,707 =
24,779 -

- 29,023

- 25,627

- 24,340

BEE-_—FK-_FT-_—
+=—A=+—BItEE - kKB
L EFE KA TIRERRE @
RE DI ©

1 32 R
() FEINEBEFZHA

TREHNBEBEAEE K
BANER R P 2 WA R
B ZER - BFM
ERREHRBXE
T E R E S -

2023 2022
—g-= —ZE-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tx ARBTIT
220,336 155,568
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25. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(d) Geographical information (Continued)

(i)

Specified non-current assets

The Group’s specified non-current assets
comprise property, plant and equipment, and
right-of-use assets.

The geographical location of these specified
non-current assets is based on the physical
location of the assets, in the case of property,
plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets.

The following table sets out information about
the geographical location of the specified non-
current assets.

The PRC (place of domicile) H B (& EFith )
Hong Kong BB

25. o EbERE (&)

(d) HEEFR(E)

(i)

EEHREEE

AEBZEEFRBE
E BREDE BEK
REAREREEE -

ZEREFRDEEN
PREE T RE (Y
X BB RREARE
REEEMS ) EENE
BRPAFEMLTE ©

TREINEBEEBEEIER

HEEMAEMEZE
o
2023 2022
—E=H ===
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARBTIT

189 402
1,229 250

1,418 652
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26. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Other than those disclosed in the consolidated statement
of financial position and other notes to the consolidated
financial statements:

(@) Transactions with related parties

Corporate bonds: RAlE%

- Mr. Jiang Xin Former director of the -EakE  KDANES
Company

-Mr. Jiang Quanlong ~ Fatherof Mr. Jang Xin, ~ —B5E#%4E  ARFHES
a former director of the BRAEIR
Company

The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the above transactions were entered into under
normal course of business and in accordance
with the terms of the agreements governing these
transactions.

(b) Transactions with key management personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel of
the Group representing the amounts paid to the
Company’s directors as disclosed in note 10 and the
highest paid employees and senior management as
disclosed in note 11 is as follows:

Short-term employee benefits HHRBET
Post-employment benefits BHEL 1= A

26. EXHHEAEBEALRS

A MBI R R 29 AR B

TR 2= B A B T -
(2 HEBEBREALRES
Amounts owed by
the Group to related parties Related interest expenses
AREENEREALNRE RENER%
As at 31 December Year ended 31 December
R+=A=1-H BET-A=+-ALEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
ZECCE = T ZECCE S
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARETT  ARRTR  ARETD
- 9,465 51 538
- 9,465 511 538

(b)

ARREZRS/ LR ZRE
BEEXHBETARBREZ

ERHZ WG IL ©

HIEEHEEAERS

REFBFESEAE 25 M
(BN 10T B 24 T AR
AEELHFIREEZ RS
HeRENSHRERAEZS
BT

2023 2022
—E-= - S

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®Tx AREET T

2,318 2,227

32 32

2,350 2,259
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COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did
not have significant capital commitment in respect of
acquisition and construction of property, plant and
equipment contracted but not provided for.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, and to generate sufficient profit to
maintain growth and provide a satisfactory return to its
shareholders.

The management actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure
through the amount of dividend payment to shareholders
or raise new debt financing. No changes were made in the
objectives or policies during the year.

The management monitors the Group’s capital structure
on the basis of a net debt-to-equity ratio. For this purpose,
the Group defines net debt as total debt (which includes
trade and other payables, lease liabilities and corporate
bonds) minus cash and bank balances.

There was no net debt for the Group as at 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject
to externally imposed capital requirements.

27.

28.

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 29.
CATEGORIES
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments at the end of each reporting period are as
follows:
Financial assets SRMEE
Trade receivables FEWE 55078
Other receivables Hofth FE UL SR IE
Cash and bank balances R RIRITAS
Financial assets measured at BREBHEHRAGTENERNERE

amortised cost

Financial liabilities 2EaE
Trade and other payables f1ﬁ’é’%&ﬁmaA
Corporate bonds NEES
Lease liabilities HEEE

Financial liabilities measured at RBERAAENESHEE

amortised cost

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The risks associated with the financial instruments include
credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and currency
risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.
The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(@) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables,
and bank balances. Management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

30.

ERMITAESE

RE& &iﬁﬂiﬁ EHRSRIANER
[ER=R

2023 2022
t e ===
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR AR¥ETTT

30,106 32,612

- 1,275
1,235,816 1,202,701
1,265,922 1,236,588
116,648 80,943
32,665 47,540
1,179 354
150,492 128,837
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for
the financial guarantee contracts.

As at 31 December 2023

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

30. £REMEEREMTIAY
AFEE)

(@)

FERRE(E)
REEERBFRERFETE

TRITERANEEBEERRE
MNEEEZREaREERR
AEE D EBREBHEE
B (BRIEEMERBEIEET
B AN BRI &S ) B R
+ZA=1+—HMNERHMELE
BIEH °

FT2MEsEALMEENS
REEMTBERERANEER
[B B o

R=—f==%F+=A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8R
RNEESE FENMANEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-RBR EoRR EoRR 19 by
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT ARETR ARBTR ARETT
Trade recelvables FERE 578 - - - 39,520 39,520
Contract assets ARBE - - - 24,624 24,624
Other receivables Hhofelezion - - 281 - 281
Bank balances RITH 1,235,812 - - - 1,235,812
1,235,812 - 281 64,144 1,300,237
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(@) Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2022

Statements

30. £REBEEREMTIAY
AFEE)
(@) EERRK(E)

REEERBFRIER FETE
(&)

R—E-_—_F+-_A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A
BHEEES FEMNBEEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FRe FREE FREE Bkt @it
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETFT AREFT
Trade receivables B 538 - - - 37,679 37,679
Contract assets AREE - - - 14,478 14,478
Other receivables Hhofelezion 1,275 - - - 1,275
Bank balances RITE® 1,202,696 - - - 1,202,696
1,208,971 - - 52,157 1,256,128

()  Trade receivables and contract assets

In respect of trade receivables and contract
assets, individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific
to the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer
operates. The Group generally allows credit
period ranging from 0 to 180 days to its trade
customers. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from its customers.

) REBZFENAFREE

SEWE 5 RIERER
BEME  A&EYHE
K—EEBNUNLEE
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

In respect of trade receivables, the Group’s
exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer.
Taking into account the creditworthiness of the
Group’s customers, the credit risk measures
and the historical levels of the bad debts, the
directors of the Company consider that such
concentration of credit risk would result in
significant credit default exposure to the Group.
At the end of the reporting period, 39.9% (2022:
41.3%) and 92.4% (2022: 100%) of trade
receivables were due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers,
respectively, arising from EP products and
equipment segment.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position after deducting any
impairment loss.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
did not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
TEC=HF+ZA=+—HILFE

30. 2REMEERSEMIAZ
DEEE)

FERRE(E)

M

REEERBFRERFETE
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RUWESFEREREE
(&)
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AEEBZEERREE
XEEREF ZERER
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

30. £REBEEREMTIAY

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AEEER)
(Continued)
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (@ FEERRE)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging REEEREERIER FHLTE
(Continued) (#&)
()  Trade receivables and contract assets () EUESFEREREE
(Continued) (%&)

The Group reassesses lifetime ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets under HKFRS 9
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for significant increase in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring. The ECLs on trade
receivables and contract assets are assessed
for debtors individually or collectively using a
provision matrix. As part of the Group’s credit
risk management, the Group uses debtors’
ageing to assess with the impairment loss
because these customers consist of a large
number of customers which share common
risk characteristics that are representative of
the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due
in accordance with the contractual terms. The
estimated loss rates are estimated on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

AREEREE B M|
EEAFIREF A
BB ZKBRERE
ENTFEANEREER
B1R - ARERILE O E
A 9 T B 1 L B X R
¥ OIN AT 1R R 5 EY R (B
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BAEEE - Ut T R %
EEFPERBAREAAR
REREHNERL - &
FRBERRAREPR
BAERGREH N8B
HIFRIERRE ) o fh A
BEDREBARRF
HMBEBEMBED
KA WRBANL
BEKASEE AN A &
S E9 AT S 1 & BHEH 38

ﬁE&o



Annual Report 2023
“EI=FEER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT_=F+-_A=1T—HILFE

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(Continued)

(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

The following table provides information about
the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs
for trade receivables and contract assets as at
31 December 2023 and 2022:

Current (not yet BIER (R EH)
past due)

Less than 6 months B R0 61E A
past due

More than 6 months EHAGME A A £
but less than 1 year BAOR1F
past due

Total et

30. £REMEEREMTIAY
AFEE)

(@)

FERRE(E)

REEERBFRERFETE
(&)

M

RUWESFEREREE
(&)

TERRERHER=ZZT=_=F
EZZTEZ=F+=H
—t+t—HEBALXEE{E
ERR R EKE S HIE
MEREECEBEE
EiEr &R

31 December 2023
—®-=F+-A=t+-H

Expected
loss rate

FEREsEE

9.58%

22.25%

27.07%

Gross Impairment
carrying loss
amount allowances
MIREE REBRREG
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETR

24,624 2,360
26,622 5,924
12,898 3,491

64,144 11,775
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(Continued)

(i)  Trade receivables and contract assets

(Continued)

Current (not yet BNEA(R#mHE7)
past due)

Less than 6 months #8061 A
past due

More than 6 months #HAGME A PA £
but less than 1 year BOR1F
past due

Total et

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past 2 years. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over
which the historical data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of
the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade receivables and contract assets are set
out in note 17.

30. £REBEEREMTIAY
AFEE)
@ EERKEGE)

REEERBFRIER FETE
(&)

() EUESFEREREE
(%)

31 December 2022
== Sasas s B So—[g

Gross Impairment

Expected carrying loss
loss rate amount allowances
TEHABE X RIREE REBERE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTTT ARBETTT

5.83% 14,478 846
9.39% 34,479 3,237
57.19% 3,200 1,830
52,157 5,913

BB RERBE2FHN
ERERERE - 1t
FLRDBREHANCGH
EHECEREESE) K
ERARAER - ERIMANR
K7 & B WK IR R
HFEMNRBERRZ
BRMMATE

BRASE MR EK
EORAREREEE
EZzEERBZE—Z
EERBEHNMET7
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(@)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(Continued)

(i)  Bank balances

The Group mitigates its exposure to credit risk
by placing deposits with financial institutions
with established credit rating. Given the high
credit ratings of the banks, the management
does not expect any counterparty to fail to
meet its obligations.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to corporate bonds with fixed interest rate
(see note 21). The management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider repayment of the
corporate bonds when significant interest rate
exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates
primarily to variable-rates of bank balances.

The Group does not anticipate significant interest
rate risk because the interest rates of these balances
are not expected to change significantly.

(i)  Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate

profile of the Group’s variable-rate bank
balances at the end of the reporting period:

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

30. £REMEEREMTIAY

DFHE(E)

(@) FERRGE)

REEERBFRERFETE
(&)

(i) IRITHEE

AEBREEFRRY
B & BB T AR R
HEERR - ERRTT
EENART  EEE
BHTEHAHF IR
RREITTEEZER -

(b) FZEmEE

AEEEBREBETEMNEQE
Ex(RHE21) R FEME
R\ o BB BRI A R A I
75 50 T8 A T e B K ) R R e B
ZRERNFES -

AEEzBERENRERE
RHRTERZFPMNEE
o

B m T E A A
CR Y E e kS
mE AR -

(i) FIFEH#R
TRALAEEORT

B2 FBMERES
HAIR A =B -

2022
k- a3 —E--fF
Effective Effective
interest rate RMB’000 interest rate RMB’000
BERF= ARBTR ERAIX ARBFT
Bank balances RITHEER 0%-0.875% 1,235,812 0%-0.3% 1,202,696
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HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 20283, it is estimated that
a general increase/decrease of 100 basis
points in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, would increase/decrease the
Group’s profit after tax and increase/decrease
the Group’s retained profits by approximately
RMB9,269,000 (2022: decrease/increase the
Group’s loss after tax and increase/decrease
the Group’s retained profit by RMB9,021,000).
Other components of equity would not be
affected by the changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been
determined assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to the exposure
to interest rate risk for non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date. The 100
basis point increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the
period until the end of the next reporting period.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for
year 2022.

30. 2RIEMEERSEMIAZ
DEEE)

(b)

FI = 2 s (48)

(i)  BBEEDH
R_E_=F+_H
=t+—8 &&E &
FTEEMmESHERTE
ZIBERT » FRER E
Ft/ T 100 8 £ 25

SAREEZBRME R
g, R AL E
Z AR BB & A3 R A
4 A R ¥ 9,269,000 JT
—E-_F: KK
EzrErEBERD
EINERAERZIRE R
Ao, m A AR
9,021,0007T ° a2 &
D AT X R
@JZEﬁEBo

Ll BRRE DT TR
FESEFERRE IR
BE - WEEARZAB
HEEZHFTESRMT
BAEASR 2 A R R
100 1E £ B 2 3818 X X 1@
REEEMREZE T @R
EHRPRAMNEZAE
A BE B B T 1E 2 BT 1 o
:z::im 5 T A LA
MR Ry AT o
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

()

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial asset as they fall due. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants and to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from banks to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which
are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates
current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

30. £REMEEREMTIAY

DFHE(E)

()

RBEEER

mBETRREAEERE
TEBUARERNIT A HEM
TREESEIHZERMEE
EHREINAENAR - N&E
B2 R AT RERRE A
HZRBDESFRLEEBTE
REK) 2 BER - AERAEE
MRS TR IR & W R R R
THEGEIREEAES - ARN
HEMERERZRPEST
S o

TRABFHIAEE ZFTES
MEERNREHRRZHBTER
HARR o b TS ER A RFTE KRR
AReRE(BRREARMN
(M RFEFE - BER
BERARNRITHER)FEZ
M B R A KB AT REZA
R &xFHHEE -

2023
k- St

Contractual undiscounted cash flow

ARFERERRERE

More than More than
Within one one year two years
Carrying but less than  but less than Over five
amount  on demand two years five years years Total
—-Fhy  BB-FE  BAREE
REE  REREE SRWE SREE BELE e
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AEETT  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETn  ARETR  ARETR
Non-derivative financial liabilities Ffi4£&MEE
Trade and other payables B S REME 116,648 116,648 - - - 116,648
Corporate bonds A% 32,665 3,009 3,426 22,455 4,921
Lease liabilties HESR 1,179 522 217 - 1,261
150,492 130,201 3,531 3,643 22,455 159,830
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HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR  30. £RiEMEERESMTIAE>
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ATE(E)
(Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) HKBESEMER(E)
2022
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
ARAERERRLNE
More than More than
Within one one year two years
Carrying yearor  butlessthan  but less than QOver five
amount on demand two years five years years Total
—FhE BR-FR  RERFA
REE  REREE DIAE PRRE okt a5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETE  ARETR  ARETZ  ARETR  ARETL  ARETR
Non-derivative financial liabilities Jf74£M&E
Trade and other payables EfE5REMTE 80,943 80,943 - - - 80,043
Corporate bonds NAlEH 47540 2,841 29,640 5,217 23,261 60,959
Lease liabilties HERE 354 357 - - - 357
128,837 84,141 29,640 5217 23,261 142,259
(d) Currency risk (d) EXE@E
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries transact in RMB, REBHFEFBRARNUAR
and the Company and other subsidiaries mainly BETRS @ MARA REA
transact in HK$. Management considers the Group’s M AR BIEELABTTEITR
exposure to currency risk is not significant. 5 WEBERR  ANEBEPMT
HEENEERBRITTERX -
(e) Estimation of fair values (e) AFEME
Financial assets and financial liabilities THREERETHMERE
For financial assets and financial liabilities that mBMESREHAE s S/mEE
are liquid or having a short-term maturity, it is RemaEhREERAER
assumed that the carrying amounts approximate NEEEE ZBREARE
their fair values. The assumption is applied to trade FEFNHA 2 EWE ZFIE -
receivables, other receivables, contract assets, trade HiEWHIE  cREE - &

and other payables, and bank balances without a
specific maturity. For other financial instruments
(including corporate bonds), the fair values are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

NE S REAMRERIBRITE
e ERNEMERMTA(ERE
NAEMESR) - ERFETIRE
AREBRUEFEL ARGIRR
ERENTRELE -
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31. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 2, the directors of
the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if revision affects both current and
future periods.

(i)  Estimation of impairment of trade receivables
and contract assets

The Group estimates the loss allowances
for trade receivables and contract assets by
assessing the ECLs. This requires the use of
estimates and judgements. ECLs are based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions
at the end of reporting period. Where the
estimation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will affect the carrying amounts
of trade receivables and contract assets and
thus the impairment loss in the period in which
such estimate is changed. The Group keeps
assessing the expected credit loss of trade
receivables and contract assets during their
expected lives. As at 31 December 2023,
the carrying amount of trade receivables
and contract assets was approximately
RMB30,106,000 (2022: RMB32,612,000) and
RMB22,263,000 (2022: RMB13,622,000).
Details of the impairment of trade receivables
are disclosed in notes 17 and 30(a).

e IR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B
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HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

31. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(i) Warranty provisions

The Group does not make provision for product
warranties arising from sales of EP products
and equipment, taking into account the Group’s
recent claim experience and past experience of
the level of repairs. In addition, the Group has
also received product warranties in respect of
those products and equipment supplied from
its suppliers, and the scope of the product
warranties (including warranty periods) are
the same as those the Group offered to its
customers. It is not indicative of future claims
that it will receive in respect of past sales.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In determining the carrying amounts of certain assets
and liabilities, the Group makes assumptions for the
effects of uncertain future events on those assets and
liabilities at the end of each reporting period. These
estimates involve assumptions about such items as
cash flows and discount rates used. The Group’s
estimates and assumptions are based on historical
experience and expectations of future events and are
reviewed periodically. In addition to assumptions and
estimations of future events, judgements are also
made during the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

31. BARE R HE R A5 THE
2 EEZRIR(E

(@)

(b)

flET NHEE M 2 £ ERIF ()
(i) RIELERE

REBASEIPZR
FEBRLGEEER 2B
&R AKEYEF
HERRE®RERBHM
RE 2 ERREME D
B o MO AKETN
EEHERARZEFEM
RERMftZRE B
ZEERREZEE(E
RREHRE) BREER
HEFRHEEMRR - &
¥ ARA\EBAEEHB
EHEMEXRE -

ERASEE S REEDE
2 E R

EEEETEERBEZERT
EF - R R THEE # R K
EHHRREPREERARE

FEEHRR - BRAMBEFHY
REBReRERMAMBAERE
BHEZBR - AEEREBE
RE R ARRES 2L
Ft R - LE B © &
HARKE M 2 RR R fAETI
AEBEERBEGBRER I
1R I -
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e IR R MR

31. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax in Hong
Kong and various taxes in the PRC. Significant
judgement is required in determining the
provision for taxation. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues
based on estimates of whether additional tax
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Withholding tax on the distributable profits of
the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC

On 16 March 2007, National People’s Congress
approved the New EIT Laws which was
effective from 1 January 2008. According to
the relevant regulations of the New EIT Laws,
when a foreign investment enterprise distributes
dividends out of the profits earned from 1
January 2008 onwards to its foreign investors,
they are subject to the PRC Enterprise Income
Tax. The applicable income tax rate varies with
the origin of the overseas investors.

The Group’s determination as to whether to
accrue for withholding tax from distribution
of dividends from its subsidiaries established
in the PRC according to the relevant tax law
and regulations is subject to judgement on
the timing of the payment of the dividends.
The estimation process is highly based on
assumptions, which are influenced by projected
future market and economic conditions and
future financing requirements of the Group, and
it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute dividends in the foreseeable future.

For the year ended 31 December 2023
2T _=F+_A=+—HLEFE
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HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=1+—HILLFE

32. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Equipment B
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR 2 &E
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Deposits b
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUBHE A 780 28
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTHE R
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEaE
Accruals and other payables FEET & A I H b FE S 3RIR
Corporate bonds RAEESH
Lease liabilities HEAE
NET CURRENT ASSETS RENEERE

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 3JEREIEE

Corporate bonds NEES
Lease liabilities HEAE
NET ASSETS BERE

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRARREE

Share capital [
Reserves (i

TOTAL EQUITY k4R

HEERRBAE

32. AFEMEA BRI R

2023 2022

—EgE=-= ==
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
it AR¥Tx ARBTIT
122 42
15 1,107 360
16 397,359 391,702
398,588 392,104
167 248
284,502 280,385
51 366
284,720 280,999
65,810 54,839
21 11,781 -
20 468 354
78,059 55,193
206,661 225,806
605,249 617,910
21 20,884 47,540
20 711 =
21,595 47,540
583,654 570,370
23 86,149 78,073
24 497,505 492,297
583,654 570,370
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e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFE

33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING  33. BB EHFFEEEEZHIR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details the changes in the Group’s TRHAEBERETHAELES
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both BEreE . AFER4SEIEES
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from A EEELBBEREE
financing activities are those for which cash flows were, E}JZEE%\:’EEEWEJZ%%EE?E%’%E
or future cash flows will be, classified in the consolidated ﬂQﬁﬁM‘;g—\iﬁégi/E "*’E%%ﬁé
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing i At i lbing EigEi sl it
activities. EEEEMRSRE -
Amount due
to a related Lease Corporate
company liabilities bonds Total
FE AR A )
E| HEERE DRES b
(Note 19(b)) (Note 20) (Note 21)
(H190)) (Hii20) (Hiit21)
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT
At 1 January 2022 i S Rl = 35,010 1,075 44,284 80,369
Changes from financing cash flows: HEREHE 22
Advance from a related company REBB R B 13,517 - - 13,517
Repayment of advance from arelated ~ EEEEARz B
company (625) - - (625)
Settlement of lease liabilties BEHEARE - (821) = (821)
Redemption of corporate bonds BEARES = = (859) (859)
Interests paid on corporate bonds BRDRRAERFE - - 2,772) (2,772)
Total changes from financing cash flow ~ REB4RE 7 28R 12,892 (821) (3,627) 8,444
Effect of change in foreign exchange rates SMEE R £E) 2 /2 3,811 64 4,064 7,939
Other changes: Hitg)
Effective interest expenses BUNERR - 36 2,819 2,855
At 31 December 2022 and W-Z2-_—#+-fF=1—H
1 January 2023 k=E-=%-F—-H 51,7113 354 47,540 99,607
Changes from financing cash flows: FMEREHEZEE
Advance from a related company REBHAR 2B 10,057 - - 10,057
Repayment of advance from arelated ~ [EEEEARz 25
company (369) - - (369)
Settlement of lease liabilities BERERE - (597) - (597)
Interests paid on corporate bonds BERARIEHRHE - - (1,242) (1,242)
Total changes from financing cash flow ~ BER &2z EHEH 9,688 (597) (1,242) (7,849)
Effect of change in foreign exchange rates MEE X #8222 816 10 781 1,607
Other changes: Hitg)
Effective interest expenses BHABRY - 47 2,706 2,753
Addition to lease liabilities HEREEM - 1,365 - 1,365
Debt capitalisation EBEAL - - (17,120) (17,120)
At 31 December 2023 RZZE-_=FE+-A=1—H 62,217 1,179 32,665 80,363
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

34.

35.

BE-_Z-_=Ff+-A=+—HLFE

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

The directors of the Company consider the immediate and
ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Praise Fortune
Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
This entity does not produce financial statements available
for public use.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The following significant events took place subsequent to
31 December 2023:

Issue of shares for debt capitalisation

On 22 February 2024, 61,320,755 ordinary shares of
the Company were issued to a subscriber to capitalise
HK$13,000,000 of the debt in accordance with debt
capitalisation agreement.

34.

35.

HERERAEHT

ARREERAE  ASEB2E#
e ER T AR EBEXHS
& fit X 32 2 A 7] Praise Fortune
Limited - Z BB W AR HAR
B B mEK o

BREHREE

THEREEITR_-_E_=F+=
A=+—H1#&%%E

REBERCBITRE

R—ZZE_WmWF_A=-_+=H
61,320,755 A A a) E R EITT
REA - UBRBESEN BB
13,000,000/ LR EFHE AL o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Up to the date of issuance of these consolidated
financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments, new standards and interpretations which
are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2023
and which have not been adopted in these consolidated
financial statements. These include the following which
may be relevant to the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants'
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback'
HK Int 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
- Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause'
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements'
and HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

9 Effective date to be determined by the IASB.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments are expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far the Group has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

e BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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RERGREEARAF

Financial Summary

MBHRE

The following is a summary of the consolidated results and the

consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five BERITEEEHEERE -

financial years.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

mEEE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+-HLFE

TRAAEERENAVRFE LA

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—g-=f -—T-—-— =H== “E2-%F —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETR
Continuing operations: REREER .

Revenue LN 220,336 155,568 38,158 39,388 79,802
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRRAER,/(BE) 6,119 156 8,300 (29,347) (56,227
Income tax expenses PERRE X (4,668) (1,085) = = (2,397)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE),/ &H 1,451 (899) 8,300 (29,347) (58,624)

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES REEEHAE

As at 31 December

W+=B=+-H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—2z= T —T--—f& —T-TE —TAF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT AR®TRT AR®ETT AR®ETR
Total non-current assets FrRBEELE 4,362 2,130 1,541 3,419 3,106
Total current assets mBEERE 1,288,363 1,250,479 1,228,519 1,261,603 1,257,956
Total assets BEBE 1,202,725 1252609 1,230,060 1,265,022 1,261,062
Total liabilities BfEHE (155,232) (131,978) (100,443) (145,934) (116,891)
Net assets BEFE 1,137,493 1,120,631 1,129,617 1,119,088 1,144,171
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